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In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K")nless the context indicates otherwise, the termigeit\f' “the Company,” “we,”
“us,” and “our” refer to Mitek Systems, Inc., a Belare corporation.

IMPORTANT NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains “forward-looking stateméntsat involve risks and uncertainties, as welhasumptions that, if they never
materialize or prove incorrect, could cause ouultego differ materially and adversely from th@seressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. The forward-looking statemamtscontained principally in ltem 1—“Business,ntd A.—“Risk Factors” and ltem 7—
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations,” but appesyughout this Form 10-K. Forward-
looking statements may include, but are not limttgdstatements relating to our outlook or expémtatfor earnings, revenues, expenses,
quality or other future financial or business parfance, strategies, expectations or business isspe the impact of legal, regulatory or
supervisory matters on our business, results afadipas or financial condition. Specifically, forvel looking statements may include
statements relating to our future business prospestenue, income and financial condition.

Forward-looking statements can be identified byube of words such as “estimate,” “plan,” “projettorecast,” “intend,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “target” or simitaexpressions. Forward-looking statements reflacjudgment based on currently available
information and involve a number of risks and utaiaties that could cause actual results to diffaterially from those described in the
forward-looking statements.

In addition to those factors discussed under Itém-1Risk Factors,” important factors could causeuattresults to differ materially
from our expectations. These factors include, beitnat limited to:

» adverse economic conditior

» general decreases in demand for our products andes

» changes in timing of introducing new products itite market

* intense competition (including entry of new comjmes), including among competitors with substattigteater resources than

» increased or adverse federal, state and local gmesnt regulation

* inadequate capita

* unexpected cost

» revenues and net income lower than foreca:

e litigation;

» the possible fluctuation and volatility of operatiresults and financial conditior

« inability to carry out our marketing and sales glaend

» the loss of key employees and executi

All forward-looking statements included in this Fof0-K speak only as of the date of this Form 18Ad you are cautioned not to pl

undue reliance on any such forward-looking stateémétxcept as required by law, we undertake n@atibn to publicly update or release
any revisions to these forward-looking statememt®flect any events or circumstances that arigs #fe date of this Form 10-K or to reflect
the occurrence of unanticipated events. The alist/is Inot intended to be exhaustive and there Ineagther factors that could preclude us
from realizing the predictions made in the forwérdking statements. We operate in a continuallyngidg business environment and new

factors emerge from time to time. We cannot preslicth factors or assess the impact, if any, of uttors on our financial position or rest
of operations.

(0
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

Mitek Systems, Inc. is a mobile solutions providagaged in the development, sale and service pfdfwrietary software solutions
related to mobile imaging.

We apply our patented technology in image captorection and intelligent data extraction in thehife financial and business
applications markets. Our technology allows userginotely deposit checks, pay bills, transfer treatd balances, open accounts and get
insurance quotes by taking pictures of various dumts with their camera-equipped smartphones dnteltsanstead of using the device
keyboard. Our products use advanced algorithmer@ct image distortion, extract relevant datafedmages to their desired location and
process transactions through usérgncial institutions. As of November 28, 2014, hha&ve been granted 20 patents and have an addliZd
patent applications pending.

Our Mobile Deposi® product is software that alloweers to remotely deposit a check using their camguipped smartphone or tab
As of September 30, 2014, 3,026 financial institosi have signed agreements to deploy Mobile Defosind 2,521 of these financial
institutions have deployed Mobile Depd8it to thmistomers, including all of the top ten, and neallyf the top 50, U.S. retail banks, as
ranked by SNL Financial for the second quarterabéiedar year 2014.

Mobile Photo Account Opening™s a product that enables users to open a checkanings or credit card account by capturing an
image of the front and back of their driver’s liserwith their camera-equipped smartphone or taldlebile Photo Payments™ is a mobile
direct bill pay solution that enables users to pilg by taking a photo of their bill followed byphoto of the check or credit/debit card being
used to pay the bill. Mobile Photo Bill Pay allowusers to pay their bills using their camera-equipgr@artphone or tablet. Mobile Balance
Transfer™ is a product that allows credit card éssuo provide balance transfer offers and enalsess to transfer an existing credit card
balance and establish a new credit card accouoapturing an image of the user’s current credid cadatement. Our mobile imaging software
solutions are available for iOS and Android op&gsystems.

We market and sell our mobile imaging software sohs through channel partners or directly to earise customers that typically
purchase licenses based on the number of transaaricsubscribers that use our mobile software.r@bile imaging software solutions are
often embedded in other mobile banking or enteepajgplications developed by banks, insurance coiepan their partners, and marketed
under their own proprietary brands.

We are headquartered in San Diego, California amek\wcorporated in the state of Delaware on May1286.

Product and Technology Overview

Our suite of mobile imaging solutions is providedeasoftware platform. During the fiscal year en8egtember 30, 2014, we had only
one operating segment: the development, sale anides®f our proprietary software solutions relateanobile imaging.

Our technology processes images of documents ity mvags, including quality analysis, image repagcament identification and the
extraction of hand-printed and machine-printed.t&ur capabilities can be deployed on any backefiindustrial or desktop scanner, or on
camera-equipped smartphones or tablets, to optiarideextract data from any scanned or photographeck, bill or other financial
document. Our capabilities include mobile docuntaptture, image recognition, repair and optimizatdynamic data extraction and several
document-specific capabilities, such as courtesyuarnrecognition, legal amount recognition, andineg of barcodes.

1
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Our mobile imaging solutions are able to read atithet data from images of financial and identifica documents, in essence turning
camera-equipped smartphones and tablets into staaning devices.

Our proprietary, patented technology combines oue character recognition technology with advanoetile image processing
capabilities that transform a four-color photograpla document into a digital image that is equéwmalin size and resolution to scanned
documents. Unlike scanned documents, mobile phapdgrof documents captured by camera-equipped @noats and tablets are exposed
to variable lighting conditions and various angles focal distances. Raw photos of documents taitencamera-equipped smartphone or
tablet may be of an unknown size and resolutionaradften geometrically distorted, skewed or wdrpges a result, the “raw” mobile
document image is virtually unusable without owht@ology. Our technology uses advanced algorithesggded to identify and correct
geometric and optical distortions and automaticedlyrect each mobile document image.

Mobile Imaging Solutions

The majority of our revenue in the fiscal yearseh&eptember 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was gendnatmd Mobile Deposi®
product, which we sell to channel partners in tharfcial services industry. Our other mobile imagsolutions, which include Mobile Photo
Account Opening™, Mobile Photo Payments™, MobileteBill Pay® , and Mobile Balance Transfer™, arnarrily sold directly to
enterprise customers.

Mobile Deposif®

As of September 30, 2014, 3,026 financial institosi have signed agreements to deploy Mobile Defosind 2,521 of these financial
institutions have deployed Mobile Depd&it to thmistomers, including all of the top ten, and neallyf the top 50, U.S. retail banks, as
ranked by SNL Financial for the second quarterabéiedar year 2014. Our Mobile Depdsfiroduct was the first to utilize our mobile imag
analytics and character recognition software tovafinancial institutions to accept check depositsimages of checks taken with camera-
equipped smartphones and tablets. Mobile Depodibwalusers to make deposits by photographing thra find back of a check and
submitting the image electronically to their bagkng their smartphone or tablet. We began sellimipid Deposi® in the second fiscal
quarter of 2008, and received our first patentadsior this product in August 2010.

Mobile Photo Account Opening™

Mobile Photo Account Opening™ makes it convenigrtt aasy for customers to open a new account us@igdamera-equipped
smartphone or tablet by capturing an image of thetfand back of their driver’s license. Our tedogy extracts data from the drivericens:
and automatically populates an account informdiom, thereby eliminating errors associated witmoa account opening processes.
Mobile Photo Account Opening™ can be used to opeevabank account, get an insurance quote, apply foedit card, originate a loan, or
enroll in other products and services. This processbe extended to capture the image of a chectedit/debit card, allowing for immediate
funding or payments. Mobile Photo Account Opening®b includes an add-on technology that enablesahpeire and processing of trailing
documents needed for some account opening buginesssses.

While the initial target market for this solutiamthe financial services industry, it has applitgbacross many industries, including but
not limited to retail, ecommerce and gaming.

Mobile Photo Payments™

For direct billers, Mobile Photo Paymernitsenables consumers to pay bills using their camguipped smartphone or tablet by simply
taking a photo of their bill coupon followed by hqgto of the check or credit/debit card being usepay the bill. Our patented bill pay
technology reads the account number on the bilbonwand transmits the account data back to theuoomsfor verification. The consumer
then takes a photo of the check or credit/debid b&ing used to pay the bill to complete the paymen

2
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Mobile Photo Bill Pay?®

Mobile Photo Bill Pay? provides a new level of seevand convenience for bank customers who waraydiils using their camera-
equipped smartphone or tablet. Mobile Photo Bif Paonnects to existing online bill pay systems aholws users to pay bills by taking
pictures with their camera-equipped smartphonafet. The core technology of Mobile Photo Bill Payfor which we have been granted
two patents, enables this process by correctingénalistortion, reading relevant data and proceg$iaglata into a bill payment form. With
Mobile Photo Bill Pay? , users can submit electrggagments from their camera-equipped smartphontbtats without having to write
checks, buy stamps, visit a payment location oneige their personal computers.

Mobile Balance Transfer™

Mobile Balance Transfer™ is a new, cost-effectivayvior financial institutions to acquire new crechird customers. Mobile Balance
Transfer™ accurately and securely extracts necgssdia from an image of the user’s credit carcestant to create a balance transfer offer.
The customer can accept the offer with a singletiaf a button and the bank can then automatitihysfer the balance and establish a new
credit card account. We were granted a patent fabild Balance Transfer™ in July 2013.

Maintenance and Support

We provide ongoing software support services tsaear customers with the use and maintenanceiiofaftware. We have a customer
service department that handles installation anisiter@ance requirements. The majority of the inggifive receive are handled by telephone
and electronic mail. We maintain our customerstwgafe largely through releases that provide outaruers with technology enhancements
and updated features. Substantially all of ouramsts purchase post-contract support from us. Téersgces are a significant source of
recurring revenue and are typically contracted marnual basis.

Customers with maintenance agreements receive a@ftupdates from us on an if-and-when-availableshmady. Technical support is
provided by telephone as well as by on-site tediniisits, if necessary.

Maintenance and support service fees are defengdezognized over the contract period on a sttdigé basis. Costs incurred by us
provide maintenance and support services are othdogeost of revenue as incurred.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in large part upon our prapyiegchnology. We attempt to protect our intelletiproperty rights primarily
through patents, copyrights, trademarks, tradeetgoemployee and third party nondisclosure agratsrand other measures. If we are un
to protect our intellectual property or we infringe the intellectual property rights of a third fyaour operating results could be adversely
affected.

As of November 28, 2014, the U.S. Patent and Tradkei@ffice (the “PTO"has issued us 20 patents and we have filed fod@iianal
domestic and international patents. We have 2atemgid trademarks and will continue to evaluatedigéstration of additional trademarks as
appropriate. We claim common law protection fold amy seek to register, other trademarks. In amditve generally enter into
confidentiality agreements with our employees.

Sales and Marketing

We market our products and services through chgraréhers as well as through our internal, dira#sorganization. We have an
internal marketing group that develops corporaté@oduct marketing strategies and executes macketans with the support of external
resources as needed. We employ a technically edesgles force that works with management to ifletite needs of existing and
prospective customers. Our indirect
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sales strategy concentrates on OEMs, systems aitegy distributors, and software solution compsatheat build, integrate and sell mobile
solutions. Our direct sales strategy concentratdarge financial services organizations and ofdugre corporations that want to deliver
innovative mobile services to their customers. $ales process is supported by a broad range ofetiragkprograms, including trade shows,
public relations and digital advertising.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, weederevenue of $5,688,973, or 30% of our totakreie, from one customer,
compared to revenue of $3,607,417, or 24% of diat tevenue, from one customer in the fiscal yeateel September 30, 2013. For the fit
year ended September 30, 2012, we derived rever®& 87,730 from three customers, with such custsraccounting for 15%, 15% a
12%, respectively, of our total revenue.

International sales accounted for 4%, 3% and 5%uofotal revenue for the fiscal years ended Selpéer80, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. We sell our products in U.S. curreanly.

Market Opportunities, Challenges and Risks

The increase in the acceptance of mobile bankininaycial institutions and their customers hagpbdldrive our recent growth in
revenue. In the past year, we experienced a signifincrease in the number of financial instimsidhat have integrated and launched our
mobile applications, particularly our Mobile Depdsproduct, as part of their offering of mobile barkchoices for their customers. We
believe that financial institutions see our patdrgelutions as a way to provide an enhanced custerperience and reduce the cost of sales
and service.

To sustain our growth in 2015 and beyond, we belie must continue to offer imaging technologyrfabile applications that address
a growing market for mobile banking and mobile imnggsolutions sold into other vertical markets. tBex adversely affecting the pricing of
or demand for our mobile applications, such as aitipn from other products or technologies, anglide in the demand for mobile
applications, or negative publicity or obsolesceoicthe software environments in which our prodwgierate, could result in lower revenues
or gross margins. Further, because substantidlbf alir revenues are from a single type of tecbgg] our product concentration may make
us especially vulnerable to market demand and cttigmefrom other technologies, which could redaes revenues.

The implementation cycles for our software and ises/by our channel partners and customers cagnigghly, often a minimum of thn
to six months and sometimes longer for larger euets, and require significant investments. For eanas of September 30, 2014, we
executed agreements indirectly through channehpestor directly with customers covering 3,026 MellReposit® customers, 2,521 of
whom have completed implementation and launchedilgl@®posit® to their customers. If implementatidroar products by our channel
partners and customers is delayed or otherwisearpleted, our business, financial condition arstiits of operations may be adversely
affected.

We derive revenue predominately from the salecafises to use the products covered by our pateetbdologies, such as our Mobile
Deposit® product, and to a lesser extent by progidiraintenance and professional services for theymts we offer. The revenue we derive
from the sale of such licenses is primarily derifreen the sale to our channel partners of licensell the applications we offer. Revenues
related to most of our licenses for mobile prodactsrequired to be recognized up front upon satigfn of all applicable revenue recognit
criteria. The recognition of future revenues frdrage licenses is dependent upon a number of faatohsding, but not limited to, the term of
our license agreements, the timing of implementatibour products by our channel partners and custe and the timing of any re-orders of
additional licenses and/or license renewals bycbannel partners and customers.

During each of the last few years, sales of licete@ne or more channel partners have comprisgghdicant part of our revenue each
year. This is attributable to the timing of renesvat purchases of licens
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and does not represent a dependence on any shagleel partner. If we were to lose a channel pargiationship, we do not believe such a
loss would adversely affect our operations becaitber we or another channel partner could sellppaducts to the end-users that had
purchased products from the channel partner welmstever, in that case, we or another channehparhust establish a relationship with
the end-users, which could take time to develop dévelops at all.

We have a growing number of competitors in the ieabnaging industry, many of which have greateafinial, technical, marketing
and other resources. However, we believe our padeéntaging and analytics technology, our growingfpbo of products for the financial
services industry and our market leadership give distinct competitive advantage. To remain coiitipef we must continue to offer
products that are attractive to the consumer akasddeing secure, accurate and convenient. Tousetpmain competitive, we intend to
continue to strengthen our portfolio of product®tigh research and development as well as parthetsith other technology providers.

Competition

The market for mobile image processing softwarelpets is intensely competitive, subject to rapidraje, and significantly affected by
new product introductions and other market actegif industry participants. We face direct andraa competition from a broad range of
competitors who offer a variety of products andisohs to our current and potential customers. @imcipal competition comes from:

(i) customer-developed solutions; (ii) companideiifig automated document processing systemsginpanies offering competing
technologies capable of recognizing hand-printeti@nsive characters; and (iv) companies offerimgc& imaging systems to banks.

It is also possible that we will face competitisarh new industry participants or alternative tedbgies. Moreover, as the market for
automated document processing, image recognitleglkcimaging and fraud detection software develapgymber of companies with
significantly greater resources than we have cattieimpt to enter or increase their presence inmalurstry, either independently or by
acquiring or forming strategic alliances with oompetitors, or otherwise increase their focus @nitlkdustry. In addition, current and
potential competitors have established or may éskabooperative relationships among themselvesitr third parties to increase the ability
of their products to address the needs of our ntiened potential customers.

Our products are compliant with Service-Orientedhtecture standards and compete, to various degneth products produced by a
number of substantial competitors. Competition agnproduct providers in this market generally fosuse price, accuracy, reliability and
technical support. We believe our primary compsgitadvantages in this market are: (i) recognitiocueacy with regard to hand-printed
characters; (ii) flexibility resulting from the diby of our products to operate in several Micrastéfeb Services environments; (iii) scalability;
and (iv) an architectural software design thatvedl@ur products to be more readily modified, imm@with added functionality and
configured for new products, thereby allowing ooftware to be easily upgraded.

Increased competition may result in price reduajoaduced gross margins and loss of market shayepf which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating resuttsiaancial condition.

Research and Development

We develop software products internally and alseipase or license rights to thipdwty intellectual property. We believe that ouufe
success depends in part on our ability to mairgathimprove our core technologies, enhance outiegiproducts and develop new products
that meet an expanding range of customer requiresnen
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Internal research and development allows us to taiaicloser technical control over our products gives us the ability to determine
which modifications and enhancements are most itappband when they should be implemented to ertherproper functioning of our
software products. We intend to expand our exigpirmgluct offerings and introduce new mobile imagecpssing software solutions that nr
the needs of our customers. We perform all quaklisurance and develop documentation internallysane to stay abreast of hardware
advances that may affect our software design. Weméhto continue to support the major industry déad operating environments.

Our team of specialists in recognition algorithswftware engineering, user interface design, prodocumentation and quality
improvement is responsible for maintaining and echay the performance, quality and utility of allaur products. In addition to research
and development, our engineering staff providesotasr technical support on an as-needed basis.

Our research and development organization incladég/are engineers and scientists, many of whone laalvanced degrees, as well as
additional personnel in quality assurance andedldisciplines. All of our software engineers areoived in applications development,
including our mobile imaging platforms and produetth solutions for mobile image capture; mobileeck deposits; mobile bill payments;
form identification; image quality analysis; defeatfor signatures; and quality assurance.

Our research and development expenses for the grdesi September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were$67®8., $6,793,412 and
$6,664,030 respectively. We expect research anelolement expenses during fiscal year 2015 to remedatively consistent with those
incurred in fiscal year 2014 as we continue our pesduct research and development efforts.

Employees and Labor Relations

As of September 30, 2014, we had 49 full-time ewypds, consisting of 16 in sales and marketing aofégsional services, 22 in
research and development, product management apdrsuand 11 in executive, finance, network adstiation and other capacities. In
addition, we engaged various consultants in thasaoé research and development, product developrieatce and marketing during fiscal
year 2014. We have never had a work stoppage amel afoour employees are represented by a labon@ag#on. We consider our relatio
with our employees to be good.

Available Information

Our principal offices are located at 8911 Balbo@A®san Diego, CA 92123 and our telephone numi@&58) 309-1700. We are
subject to the reporting requirements of the S&esrExchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exabday”). Consequently, we are requi
to file reports and information with the Securit@sd Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), includingorépon the following forms: annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form,Gurrent reports on Form 8-K and amendmentsdsetheports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchakete These reports and other information concerniagnay be accessed, free of charge,
through the SEC’s website @wtvw.sec.goand our website atww.miteksystems.canThese reports are placed on our website as son a
reasonably practicable after they are filed with 8EC. Information contained in, or that can beeased through, our website is not
incorporated by reference into, nor is it in anywagpart of, this Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISKFACTORS.

The following risk factors and other informatiorcinded in this Form 10-K should be carefully coesetl. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones we face.tidddi risks and uncertainties not presently kndems or that we presently deem less
significant may also impair our business operatidhany
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of the following risks actually occur, our busingfisancial condition, results of operations, cdkiws, projected results and future prospects
could be materially and adversely affected. In ¢heiscumstances, the market price of our commaotkstould decline, and you could lose all
or part of your investment or interest.

Risks Associated With Our Business
We have a history of losses and we may not acheditability in the future.

Our operations resulted in a net loss of $5,291,88275,706 and $7,839,996 for the years endett®éer 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. We have a history of losses and neagirtue to incur significant losses for the foregae future. As of September 30, 2014, we
had an accumulated deficit of $36,026,966. Ourrtuprofitability depends upon many factors, inchglseveral that are beyond our control.
These factors include, without limitation:

« changes in the demand for our products and sen

» loss of key customers or contrac

« the introduction of competitive softwai

» the failure to gain market acceptance of our nesveatisting products

» the failure to successfully and cost effectivelyelep, introduce and market new products, sendcesproduct enhancements in a
timely manner; ani

» the timing of recognition of revenu

In addition, we incur significant legal, accountirmgnd other expenses related to being a public aognpAs a result of these
expenditures, we will have to generate and sugtaieased revenue to achieve and maintain futuotaility.

We may need to raise additional capital to fund ¢ioniing operations and an inability to raise the nessary capital or to do so on
acceptable terms could threaten the success oflmusiness.

We currently anticipate that our available capitelources and operating cash flows will be sufficte meet our expected working
capital and capital expenditure requirements fdeast the next 12 months. However, such resoumnagsnot be sufficient to fund the long-
term growth of our business. If we determine th&t hecessary to raise additional funds, we maypsa to do so through strategic
collaborations, licensing arrangements, publicrorgie equity or debt financing, a bank line ofditeor other arrangements. We cannot be
sure that any additional funding, if needed, wdldvailable on terms favorable to us or at allttiermore, any additional equity or equity-
related financing may be dilutive to our stockhefj@ew equity securities may have rights, prefegsror privileges senior to those of
existing holders of our shares of common stock,@etzt or equity financing, if available, may subjes to restrictive covenants and
significant interest costs. If we obtain fundingaingh a strategic collaboration or licensing areangnt, we may be required to relinquish our
rights to certain of our technologies, productsnarketing territories. If we are unable to obtdia financing necessary to support our
operations, we may be required to defer, reduadiminate certain planned expenditures or signifityacurtail our operations.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carfyrwards and certain other tax attributes may benited.

Federal and state tax laws impose restrictionhermutilization of net operating loss (“NOL") andteredit carryforwards in the event of
an “ownership change” as defined by Section 38Rhefinternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendedt{tBe®82"). Generally, an ownership
change occurs if the percentage of the value o$tibek that is owned by one or more direct or ieclirfive percent shareholders” increases
by more than 50% over their lowest ownership pasmgmat any time during the applicable testingqekfiypically, three years).
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Under Section 382, if a corporation undergoes amérship change,” the corporation’s ability to itspre-change NOL carryforwards and
other pre-change tax attributes to offset its pbsthge income may be limited. We have not completstiidy to assess whether an
“ownership change” has occurred or whether theve i@en multiple ownership changes since we beealioss corporation” as defined in
Section 382. Future changes in our stock ownersHigh may be outside of our control, may trigger‘awnership change.” In addition,
future equity offerings or acquisitions that hageiigy as a component of the purchase price coddltrén an “ownership change.” If an
“ownership changehas occurred or does occur in the future, utiloratf the NOL carryforwards or other tax attributesy be limited, whic
could potentially result in increased future tabllity to us.

We currently derive substantially all of our reverdrom a single type of technology. If this techogly and the related products do not
achieve or continue to achieve market acceptanag, lnusiness, financial condition and results of ofions would be adversely affected.

We currently derive substantially all of our protitevenues from licenses and sales of softwareystedo customers incorporating our
intelligent mobile imaging technology and softwareducts. If we are unable to achieve or contimuachieve market acceptance of our core
technology or products incorporating such technglege will not generate significant revenue grofthm the sale of our products.

Additionally, factors adversely affecting the prigiof or demand for our products and services, ssatompetition from other products
or technologies, any decline in the demand for tedhiage processing, negative publicity or obsaase of the software environments in
which our products operate could adversely affectmsiness, financial condition and results ofrapiens.

If economic or other factors negatively affect tisenall and mediur-sized business sector, our customers may beconvéllimg or unable
to purchase our products and services, which cooédise our revenue to decline.

Many of our existing and target customers are énsiimall and medium-sized business sector. Thesedsses are more likely to be
significantly affected by economic downturns thargker, more established businesses. Addition&lgse customers often have limited
discretionary funds, which they may choose to spenilems other than our products and servicesnHll and medium-sized businesses
experience economic hardship, it could negativéfgcathe overall demand for our products and sewj and could cause our revenue to
decline.

We face competition from several companies that rhaye greater resources than we do, which couldutes price reductions, reduced
margins or loss of market share.

We compete against numerous companies in the miolélging software market. Competition in this mamey increase as a result of
a number of factors, such as the entrance of ndarger competitors or alternative technologiessSehcompetitors may have greater
financial, technical, marketing and public relasaesources, larger client bases and greater loramaime recognition. These competitors
could, among other things:

« announce new products or technologies that havpdtential to replace our existing product offesr
» force us to charge lower prices;
« adversely affect our relationships with currentiots.

We may be unable to compete successfully agaimsturtent and potential competitors and if we Ibgsiness to our competitors or are
forced to lower our prices, our revenue, operativaggins and market share could decline.
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We must continue to engage in extensive researct davelopment in order to remain competitive.

Our ability to compete effectively with our mobileaging software products depends upon our aliditmeet changing market
conditions and develop enhancements to our proauctstimely basis in order to maintain our contpatiadvantage. The markets for
products incorporating mobile imaging software tealbgy and products are characterized by rapid rmcbraents in technology and changes
in user preferences. Our continued growth willoéitely depend upon our ability to develop additideehnologies and attract strategic
alliances for related or separate products. Thanebe no assurance that we will be successfuhialdging and marketing product
enhancements and additional technologies, thatiWeaat experience difficulties that could delaymmevent the successful development,
introduction and marketing of these products, at tur new products and product enhancements déljaately meet the requirements of the
marketplace, will be of acceptable quality, or withieve market acceptance.

Our annual and quarterly results have fluctuated egitly in the past and will likely continue to do sehich may cause substantial
fluctuations in our common stock price

Our annual and quarterly operating results hathdmast and may in the future fluctuate signifisadepending on factors including
the timing of customer projects and purchase oraens product announcements and releases by ustik@dcompanies, gain or loss of
significant customers, price discounting of ourdarcts, the timing of expenditures, customer prodedivery requirements, the availability
and cost of components or labor, and economic tiondi both generally and in the information tedbgg market. Revenues related to our
licenses for mobile imaging software products aguired to be recognized upon satisfaction ofgiliaable revenue recognition criteria. ~
recognition of future revenues from these licensekependent on a number of factors, including nottimited to, the terms of our license
agreements, the timing of implementation of ourdpieis by our channel partners and customers artihiivey of any re-orders of additional
licenses and/or license renewals by our channéhg@ar and customers.

In fiscal years 2014, 2013 and 2012, sales of $iesrio channel partners have comprised a signifp@ah of our revenue. This is
attributable to the timing of the purchase or realesf licenses and does not represent a dependenary single channel partner. If we were
to lose a channel partner relationship, we do eiebe such a loss would adversely affect our djmra because either we or another channel
partner could sell our products to the end-useashhd purchased products from the channel pantedost. However, in that case, we or
another channel partner must establish a relatipngith the end-users, which could take time toalep, if it develops at all.

Any unfavorable change in these or other factotdccbave a material adverse effect on our operatisglts for a particular quarter or
year, which may cause downward pressure on our aonstock price. We expect quarterly and annuatdkations to continue for tt
foreseeable future.

Our historical order flow patterns, which we expett continue, have caused forecasting difficultite us. If we do not meet our forecasts
or analysts’ forecasts for us, the price of our camn stock may decline.

Historically, a significant portion of our salesviearesulted from shipments during the last few geafikhe quarter from orders received
in the final month of the applicable quarter. We ldowever, base our expense levels, in signifipant, on our expectations of future rever
As a result, we expect our expense levels to laively fixed in the short term. Any concentratiminsales at the end of the quarter may limit
our ability to plan or adjust operating expenséger&fore, if anticipated shipments in any quartendt occur or are delayed, expenditure
levels could be disproportionately high as a paiamn of sales, and our operating results for thattgr would be adversely affected. As a
result, we believe that period-to-period comparisohour results of operations are not and willmetessarily be meaningful, and you should
not rely upon them as an indication of future perfance. If our operating results for a quartertaiew the expectations of public market
analysts and investors, it could have a materiedese effect on the price of our common stock.
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Defects or malfunctions in our products could huour reputation, sales and profitability

Our business and the level of customer acceptanmer @roducts depend upon the continuous, effeciwd reliable operation of our
products. Our products are extremely complex aactantinually being modified and improved, and @shsmay contain undetected defects
or errors when first introduced or as new versianmsreleased. To the extent that defects or ecearse our products to malfunction and our
customers’ use of our products is interrupted,reputation could suffer and our revenue could deatir be delayed while such defects are
remedied. We may also be subject to liability for defects and malfunctions of third party techgglpartners and others with whom our
products and services are integrated.

In addition, our products are typically intended dge in applications that are critical to a custgmbusiness. As a result, we believe
that our customers and potential customers haveatay sensitivity to product defects than the reftr software products in general. There
can be no assurance that, despite our testingsemith not be found in new products or releasesrafommencement of commercial
shipments, resulting in loss of revenues or detaparket acceptance, diversion of development ressudamage to our reputation, adverse
litigation, or increased service and warranty caaty of which would have a material adverse effgin our business, operating results and
financial condition.

We face risks related to the storage of our custoeshand their end users’ confidential and proprietg information.

Our products are designed to maintain the confiditytand security of our customers’ and their eiseérs’ confidential and proprietary
information that is stored on our systems, whicly inalude sensitive financial data. However, angidental or willful security breaches or
other unauthorized access to this data could expese liability for the loss of such informatidime-consuming and expensive litigation and
other possible liabilities as well as negative mityl. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized acoeso sabotage systems change frequently
and generally are difficult to recognize and raac¥We may be unable to anticipate these techniguesplement adequate preventative or
reactionary measures

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If the patents we own or license, or our other ilfeztual property rights, do not adequately protemir technologies, we may lose mart
share to our competitors and be unable to operate business profitably

Our success depends significantly on our abilitgrimtect our rights to the technologies used ingroducts, including Mobile Deposit
®. We rely on trademark, trade secret, copyright@atent law, as well as a combination of non-dsate, confidentiality and other
contractual arrangements to protect our technodoglrights. However, these legal means afford bmliged protection and may not
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gaimaintain any competitive advantage. In additisa,cannot be assured that any of our
pending patent applications will result in the Bisce of a patent. The PTO may deny or requirefégni narrowing of claims in our pending
patent applications, and patents issued as a @fshié pending patent applications, if any, maprovide us with significant commercial
protection or may not be issued in a form thatigaatageous to us. We could also incur substastitk in proceedings before the PTO. Our
issued and licensed patents and those that magsibed or licensed in the future may expire or maghallenged, invalidated or
circumvented, which could limit our ability to stepmpetitors from marketing related technologieddifionally, upon expiration of our
issued or licensed patents, we may lose some aighis to exclude others from making, using, agllor importing products using the
technology based on the expired patents. We alsb raly on contractual provisions with the thirdtps that license technology to us and
that obligate these third parties to protect ogints in the technology licensed to us. There igumrantee that these third parties would be
successful in attempting to protect our rightsrigr auch licensed technology. There is no assurdrateompetitors will not be able to design
around our patents or other intellectual propertgryy intellectual property or technology licensedis. We also rely on unpatented
proprietary technology. We cannot assure you tleatan meaningfully protect all our rights in oupatented proprietary technology or that
others will not independently develop substantialiyivalent proprietary products or processesmgratise gain access to our unpatented
proprietary technology.
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We seek to protect our know-how and other unpatiepteprietary technology with confidentiality agneents and intellectual property
assignment agreements with our employees, conssilfgartners, and customers. However, such agréemey not be enforceable or may
not provide meaningful protection for our proprigtanformation in the event of unauthorized uselisclosure or other breaches of the
agreements or in the event that our competitoxdles or independently develop similar or identib@signs or other proprietary information.
In addition, we rely on the use of registered amthimon law trademarks with respect to the brand sasheome of our products. Common
law trademarks provide less protection than regastérademarks. Loss of rights in our trademarkdctadversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, the laws of foreign countries mayprotect our intellectual property rights to the sagxtent as the laws of the U.S. If we
fail to apply for intellectual property protection if we cannot adequately protect our intellecfuaperty rights in these foreign countries,
competitors may be able to compete more effectimghinst us, which could adversely affect our cditipe position, as well as our busine
financial condition and results of operations.

Claims that we infringe upon the rights, or haveharwise utilized proprietary information, of thirgharties may give rise to costly and
lengthy litigation, and we could be prevented fraselling products, forced to pay damages, and defagdinst litigation.

In the past, third parties have asserted claimscrgain technologies incorporated in our prodirtfisnge on their patent rights.
Although we have resolved past claims, there anently claims pending against us by Rothschild Mobmaging Innovations, Inc.
(“RMII") (as more fully described in Item 3—Legatdteedings) that we have infringed on certain efrthatents related to mobile imaging
technology, and there can be no assurance thatliweotvreceive notices in the future from partasserting, directly or indirectly through our
customers, that our products infringe, or may e, on their intellectual property rights, or athise utilize their proprietary information. If
our technology and products are found to infringeruor otherwise utilize the proprietary rightsotiier parties, we could incur substantial
costs and we may have to:

» obtain licenses, which may not be available on censally reasonable terms, if at all, and may be-arclusive, thereby giving
our competitors access to the same intellectuglepty licensed to u:

» expend significant resources to redesign our prizdouctechnology to avoid infringeme
» discontinue the use and sale of infringing prodt
e pay substantial damages; ¢

« defend litigation or administrative proceedings ethinay be costly whether we win or lose, and widizhld result in a substantial
diversion of our valuable management resourcedianidour exclusive rights to the technology we baleveloped

Furthermore, we may initiate claims or litigatiageénst parties for infringement of our proprietaights or to establish the validity of
our proprietary rights. Litigation, either as pldfinor defendant, could result in significant exyse to us, whether or not such litigation is
resolved in our favor. Even if we were to prevaily litigation could be costly and time-consumimgl avould divert the attention of our
management and key personnel from our businessatigres. As a result of a patent infringement oeofhtellectual property suit brought
against us or our channel partners or licenseesywar channel partners or licensees may be fa@stbp or delay developing,
manufacturing or selling technologies or poteri@lducts that are claimed to infringe on a thirdyda intellectual property rights unless that
party grants us or our channel partners or licensghts to use its intellectual property. Ultimgieve may be unable to develop some of our
technologies or potential products or may havegoahtinue development of a product candidate asesome of our business operations
result of patent infringement or other intellectpedperty claims, which could severely harm ourifess.
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Risks Related to our Operations

If we are unable to retain and recruit qualified pgonnel, or if any of our key executives or key dayees discontinues his or hi
employment with us, it may have a material advee$ect on our business.

We are highly dependent on the key members of @magement team and other key technical persotivet Wwere to lose the services
of one or more of our key personnel, or if we faite attract and retain additional qualified persanit could materially and adversely affect
our customer relationships, competitive positiod egvenues. Furthermore, recruiting and retainingitied highly skilled engineers involv
in the ongoing developments required to refineteannologies and introduce future applicationgitical to our success. We may be unable
to attract, assimilate and retain qualified pergbiom acceptable terms given the competition withahigh technology industry. We do not
have any employment agreements providing for aipéerm of employment with any member of our semhanagement. We do not
maintain “key man” insurance policies on any of officers or employees.

We plan to grant stock options or other forms afiggawards in the future as a method of attracing retaining employees, motivat
performance and aligning the interests of employatsthose of our stockholders. As of November 2814, we had 1,432,274 shares of
common stock available for issuance pursuant iréugrants of equity awards under our existing tgqeompensation plans, which may limit
our ability to provide equity incentive awards tasting and future employees. If we are unabledopd, implement and maintain equity
compensation arrangements that provide sufficiecgritives, we may be unable to retain our exigimgloyees and attract additional
qualified candidates. If we are unable to retainexisting employees, including qualified technipatsonnel, and attract additional qualified
candidates, our business and results of operatimug be adversely affected.

Legislation and governmental regulations enactedthre U.S. and other countries that apply to us ordur customers may require us
change our current products and services and/oruttsn additional expenses, which could adverseRe&t our business and results of
operations.

Legislation and governmental regulations includithgnges in legislation and governmental regulatimpgcting financial institutions,
insurance companies and mobile device companifestdfow our business is conducted. Globally, legjisn and governmental regulations
also influence our current and prospective custshaativities, as well as their expectations aneldsein relation to our products and services.
Compliance with these laws and regulations mayregaus and expensive, and may be inconsistentjfrasdiction to jurisdiction, further
increasing the cost of compliance. Any such ina@éasosts as a result of changes in these lawsegnudiations or in their interpretation col
individually or in the aggregate make our prodwtd services less attractive to our customersydbe&introduction of new products in one
or more regions, cause us to change or limit osim®@ss practices or affect our financial conditol operating results.

Compliance with changing regulations concerning gmrate governance and public disclosure may resanladditional expenses.

In recent years, there have been several chand@ssnrules, regulations and standards relatirgptporate governance and public
disclosure, including the Dodd-Frank Wall StreefdrR@ and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frardt”f\ the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley”) and various other new raiuhs promulgated by the SEC and rules promulgayettie national securities
exchanges.

The Dodd-Frank Act, enacted in July 2010, expaedsifal regulation of corporate governance mattmismposes requirements on
publicly-held companies, including us, to, amonigeotthings, provide stockholders with a periodigisory vote on executive compensation
and also adds compensation committee reforms amaherd pay-for-performance disclosures. While sproeisions of the Dodd-Frank Act
were effective upon enactment, others will be impated upon the SEC’s adoption of related rulesragdlations. The scope and timing of
the adoption of such rules and regulations is uateand accordingly, the cost of compliance with Dodd-Frank Act is also uncertain.
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In addition, Sarbanes-Oxley specifically requirsong other things, that we maintain effectiverimicontrol over financial reporting
and disclosure of controls and procedures. In @a#i, we must perform system and process evaluatid testing of our internal control o
financial reporting to allow management to repartloe effectiveness of our internal control oveaficial reporting, as required by
Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404t our independent registered public accountimg ifs required to attest to our internal
control over financial reporting. Our testing, betsubsequent testing by our independent regisperelit accounting firm may reveal
deficiencies in our internal control over finanai@porting that are deemed to be material weakse&ag compliance with Section 404 will
require that we incur substantial accounting expsr@sd expend significant management efforts. ety have limited internal audit
capabilities and will need to hire additional acating and financial staff with appropriate publmngpany experience and technical
accounting knowledge. Moreover, if we are not ableomply with the requirements of Section 404 timaely manner, or if we or our
independent registered public accounting firm idexst deficiencies in our internal control overdimcial reporting that are deemed to be
material weaknesses, the market price of our stoald decline, and we could be subject to sanctiwrisvestigations by the SEC or other
regulatory authorities, which would require addiabfinancial and management resources.

These and other new or changed laws, rules, réegudaand standards are, or will be, subject toimgrinterpretations in many cases
to their lack of specificity. As a result, theirgigation in practice may evolve over time as newdgnce is provided by regulatory and
governing bodies, which could result in continuingcertainty regarding compliance matters and highets necessitated by ongoing
revisions to disclosure and governance practicas.eforts to comply with evolving laws, regulatioand standards are likely to continue to
result in increased general and administrative esge and a diversion of management time and attefrtim revenue-generating activities to
compliance activities. Further, compliance with reavd existing laws, rules, regulations and starglaray make it more difficult and
expensive for us to maintain director and offigability insurance, and we may be required to atoeguced coverage or incur substantially
higher costs to obtain coverage. Members of ourdboidirectors and our principal executive offieard principal financial officer could fa
an increased risk of personal liability in connestivith the performance of their duties. As a resué may have difficulty attracting and
retaining qualified directors and executive offgsarhich could harm our business. We continualgleate and monitor regulatory
developments and cannot estimate the timing or matmof additional costs we may incur as a result.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and seabamended and restated bylaws provide for indenwmaifion of officers and directors at
our expense and limits their liability, which mayesult in a major cost to us and hurt the interestsour stockholders because corporate
resources may be expended for the benefit of officend/or directors.

Pursuant to our restated certificate of incorporatind second amended and restated bylaws andhasizaed under applicable
Delaware law, our directors and officers are ratlk for monetary damages for breach of fiduciarty dexcept for liability (i) for any breach
of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporatior its stockholders; (ii) for acts or omissiorm im good faith or that involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law; (iii) uadSection 174 of the Delaware General Corpordtam (the “DGCL"); or (iv) for any
transaction from which the director derived an iogar personal benefit.

We have entered into a separate Indemnificatiore&mient (the “Indemnification Agreement”) with eaxffour directors. Under the
Indemnification Agreement, each director is entitle be indemnified against all expenses, judgmematsalties, fines and amounts paid in
settlement actually and reasonably incurred byndoehalf of such director in connection with angircis, proceedings or other actions
brought against such director as a result of thectbr’s service to us, provided that the dire¢tpoacted in good faith; (ii) reasonably believed
the action was in our best interest; and (iii) iiminal proceedings, reasonably believed the congas not unlawful. Additionally, the
Indemnification Agreement entitles each directocaatribution of expenses from us in any proceedtinghich we are jointly liable with su
director, but for which indemnification is not otlagse available. The Indemnification Agreement astitles each director to advancemer
expenses
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incurred by such director in connection with argimti, proceeding or other action in advance of i@l fadjudication of any such claim,
proceeding or other action, provided the directyeas to reimburse us for all such advances fifatl ailtimately be determined that the
director is not entitled to indemnification.

The foregoing limitations of liability and provisis for expenses may result in a major cost to dshart the interests of our
stockholders because corporate resources may lea@sg for the benefit of officers and/or directors.

From time-to-time our board of directors exploresé considers strategic alternatives, including finaings, strategic alliances,
acquisitions, or the possible sale of the Compa®wr board of directors may not be able to identdy complete any suitable strategic
alternatives and any such alternatives that are queted could have an impact on our operations avck price.

From time-to-time our board of directors explorad aonsiders potential strategic alternatives thay be available to us, including
financings, strategic alliances, acquisitions her possible sale of the Company. We currently imavagreements or commitments to engage
in any specific strategic transactions, and we otaasure you that our exploration of various sgit alternatives will result in any specific
action or transaction. If we determine to engage $trategic transaction, we cannot predict theachthat such strategic transaction might
have on our operations or stock price. We do rehith to provide updates or make further commenyardéng the evaluation of strategic
alternatives, unless otherwise required by law.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Concentration of ownership among our existing ditecs and executive officers may limit an investoagility to influence significant
corporate decisions.

As of November 28, 2014: (i) the Chairman of ouatbof directors beneficially owned approximatedg 8f our outstanding common
stock; and (i) our directors and executive officas a group beneficially owned approximately 14%un outstanding common stock. Sub
to any fiduciary duties owed to our other stockleoddunder Delaware law, these stockholders mayplect@ exercise significant influence
over matters requiring stockholder approval, inaigdhe election of directors and approval of sigant corporate transactions, and will h
some control over our management and policies. Surtieese persons may have interests that areeifférom yours. For example, these
stockholders may support proposals and actionswiiith you may disagree. The concentration of osimigrcould delay or prevent a chat
in control of the Company or otherwise discourag®tential acquirer from attempting to obtain cohof the Company, which in turn could
reduce the price of our stock. In addition, theeeldholders could use their voting influence to mi@in our existing management and
directors in office, delay or prevent changes intoa of the Company, or support or reject othenagement and board proposals that are
subject to stockholder approval, such as amendnemisr employee stock plans and approvals of ggmit financing transactions.

Future sales of our common stock by our insiders ynzause our stock price to decline.

A significant portion of our outstanding shares lagtd by directors and executive officers. Resafes substantial number of shares of
our stock by these stockholders, announcementsegiroposed resale of substantial amounts of ook sor the perception that substantial
resales may be made by such stockholders couldselyémpact the market price of our stock. Someuwfdirectors and executive officers
have entered into Rule 10b5-1 trading plans putsiearwhich they have arranged to sell shares ook from time to time in the future.
Actual or potential sales by these insiders, iniclgdhose under a pre-arranged Rule 10kBading plan, could be interpreted by the maas
an indication that the insider has lost confideinceur stock and adversely impact the market pofogur stock.
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We have registered and expect to continue to ergs$tares reserved under our equity plans undsgistration statement on Form S-8.
All shares issued pursuant to a registration statgmn Form S-8 can be freely sold in the publickaiaupon issuance, subject to restrictions
on our affiliates under Rule 144 of the Securifies of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”a large number of these shares are sold in
the public market, the sales could adversely imgiaetrading price of our stock.

Future sales of our common stock could cause therkad price of our common stock to decline.

We cannot predict the effect, if any, that markaés of shares of our common stock or the avaitgluif shares of our common stock
sale will have on the market price of our commatktprevailing from time to time. On November 1812, we filed a universal shelf
registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333965), which provides for the potential issuancslares of our common stock, preferred
stock, debt securities, warrants and units up taggregate amount of $100,000,000 and the resalesoés of our common stock up to an
aggregate amount of 800,000 shares. Following titigoffering of shares of our common stock tHased on June 28, 2013, including the
exercise of the overallotment option (the “Offefingve can potentially issue up to approximatel? $&0,000 in equity and debt securities
pursuant to such registration statement. Salesltantial amounts of shares of our common stothkempublic market, or the perception that
those sales could occur, may cause the market giricer common stock to decline.

The shares of common stock issued in connectidm tivé Offering are freely tradable without restdntor further registrations under
the Securities Act.

Our corporate documents and Delaware law contairopisions that could discourage, delay or preverttange in control of our
company, prevent attempts to replace or remove entimanagement and reduce the market price of otarck.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorgimaand second amended and restated bylaws meyuilage, delay or prevent a metr
or acquisition involving us that our stockholderayntonsider favorable. For example, our restatetificate of incorporation authorizes our
board of directors to issue up to one million skarE"blank check” preferred stock. As a resultthout further stockholder approval, the
board of directors has the authority to attach isppeights, including voting and dividend rights, this preferred stock. With these rights,
preferred stockholders could make it more diffidalta third party to acquire us.

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisafritie DGCL. Under these provisions, if anyonedmes an “interested stockholder,”
we may not enter into a “business combination” litat person for three years without special apgyavhich could discourage a third party
from making a takeover offer and could delay ovpre a change in control of us. An “interested lshmtder” is, generally, a stockholder w
owns 15% or more of our outstanding voting stockrmaffiliate of ours who has owned 15% or morewfoutstanding voting stock during
the past three years, subject to certain excepéemescribed in the DGCL.

The market price of our common stock has been viddadind your investment in our stock could sufferdecline in value.

The market price of our common stock has expergsamnificant price and volume fluctuations. Foample, during the two year
period ended September 30, 2014, the closing pfioeir common stock ranged from $2.05 to $7.3@&ddition, the stock market has from
time to time experienced significant price and wodufluctuations that have particularly affected itharket prices for the common stock of
technology companies and that have often beenatarkto the operating performance of particular ganies. These broad market
fluctuations may adversely affect the market pdteur common stock. You may not be able to regmllr shares at or above the price you
paid for them due to fluctuations in the marketerdf our stock caused by changes in our operatnigrmance or prospects and other
factors.
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Some specific factors, in addition to the othek factors identified above, that may have a sigaifit effect on the price of our stock,
many of which we cannot control, include but arélmoited to:

e Oour announcements or our competi’ announcements of technological innovatic
e quarterly variations in operating resul

» changes in our product pricing policies or thosewfcompetitors

« claims of infringement of intellectual property hig or other litigation

» the publi’s reaction to our press releases, our other pahhouncements and our filings with the Si
« changes in accounting standards, policies, guidantpretations or principle

« changes in our growth rate or our compet’ growth rates

» developments regarding our patents or proprieights or those of our competitol
e our inability to raise additional capital as neec

» changes in financial markets or general economicdiitions;

» sales of stock by us or members of our manageraant br board of directors; a

» changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorammings estimates regarding our stock, other ceaibfmcompanies or our
industry generally

Because we do not intend to pay dividends, our khatders will benefit from an investment in our camon stock only if our stock pric
appreciates in value.

We have never declared or paid a dividend on oomaon stock. We currently intend to retain our fetearnings, if any, for use in the
operation and expansion of our business and dexpct to pay any dividends in the foreseeabledéutis a result, the success of an
investment in our common stock will depend entinghpn any future appreciation in its value. Therad guarantee that our common stock
will appreciate in value or even maintain the pataevhich it was purchased.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our principal executive offices, as well as ouremsh and development facility, are located in appnately 22,523 square feet of
office space in San Diego, California. The ternthaf lease for our offices continues through June809. The annual base rent under the
lease is approximately $471,000 per year and igstuto annual increases of approximately 3% par.y@nder the terms of the lease, we
issued a standby letter of credit to the landlbat &llows for one or more draws of up to $210,00€r the term of the lease. We believe our
existing properties are in good condition and aficsent and suitable for the conduct of our bess.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
USAA

On March 29, 2012, USAA filed a complaint in theSUDistrict Court for the Western District of Texdan Antonio Division against us
seeking, among other things, a declaratory judgniettUSAA does not
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infringe certain of our patents relating to Molileposit® and that such patents are not enforcegliast USAA. In addition, USAA alleged
that it disclosed confidential information to usighat we used such information in our patentsMnotile Deposit® product in an unspecified
manner. USAA sought damages and injunctive rdl&AA subsequently amended its pleadings to assgdira for false advertising and
reverse palming off under the Lanham Act, and &kseimbursement under the parties’ license agraeme

On April 12, 2012, we filed a lawsuit against USA#Athe U.S. District Court for the District of D&lare, alleging that USAA infringed
five of our patents relating to image capture orbileodevices, breached the partibsénse agreement by using our products beyonddbpe
of the agreed-upon license terms and breachedatties license agreement by disclosing confidémtiezing and other confidential
information for our legacy product installationtire lawsuit USAA filed in Texas.

The courts consolidated the foregoing cases itJtBe District Court for the Western District of Teex and on November 19, 2012, we
answered USAA’s various claims and counterclaimsyed to dismiss USAA’s Lanham Act cause of actind filed a counterclaim against
USAA for violation of the Lanham Act. On February, 2013, the Court granted our motion and dismi&s84A’s Lanham Act claim and ¢
July 29, 2014, the Court dismissed our infringentdaims against USAA. On September 3, 2014 we agesettle all pending claims as
follows: (i) USAA moved to dismiss all of its renmétng claims, including its claims for misappropidat of trade secrets, breach of contract,
fraud, inequitable conduct, and invalidity of oatgnts; (ii) we moved to dismiss all of our remagiclaims, including our claims for trade
defamation and violations of the Lanham Act. Weeagrnot to sue USAA for patent infringement fordarcts currently sold, marketed, or
advertised by USAA, including its Deposit@Mobilepéipation. Neither we nor USAA admitted any liabjlon any claim, nor did either of
make any payment to the other. USAA has retairgeliciénse to use our Quick Strokes, Quick FX Pnd, lmage Score software products.

Top Image Systems Ltd.

On September 26, 2012, we filed a lawsuit agasrsieli-based Top Image Systems Ltd. and TIS Aménica(collectively, “TISA”) in
the U.S. District Court for the District of Delavearalleging that TISA infringes five of our patenésating to image capture on mobile
devices. We are seeking damages against TISA gnttiive relief to prevent them from selling theiobile imaging products.

On January 7, 2013, TISA answered our complairddrying the allegations and raising several affimeadefenses. On January 11,
2013, we amended our complaint to add our sixtergawhich had recently been issued and also setatenage capture on mobile devices.
On January 28, 2013, TISA responded to our ameadexgblaint by again denying the allegations andngithe same affirmative defenses
that they raised in their answer to our initial gaint.

On September 8, 2014, we agreed to settle all pgriigation with TISA because the cost of litigef the case would have been higher
than any potential benefit to us. Pursuant to #diesnent, we dismissed all claims against TISA atdined our right to pursue legal actiol
the future.

Rothschild Mobile Imaging Innovations, Inc.

On May 16, 2014, Rothschild Mobile Imaging Innowas, Inc. (“RMII”) filed a complaint against ustine U.S. District Court for the
District of Delaware alleging that certain of ouolnile imaging products infringe four RMIl-owned pats related to mobile imaging
technology. On June 1, 2014, RMIlI amended its cainpto add JPMorgan Chase & Co. and JPMorgan OBask, N.A. (together,
“Chase”), one of our customers, as a defendaitenawsuit (as amended, the “Initial Lawsuit”). Gaptember 8, 2014, RMII filed three
additional complaints (the “Subsequent Lawsuitg] sogether with the Initial Lawsuit, the “RMII Law#s”) against us in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware. The Subsequeawsuits contain allegations substantially simitathe Initial Lawsuit regarding
infringement by our mobile imaging products of thar RMII-owned
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patents related to mobile imaging technology, taue as calefendants Citibank, N.A., Citigroup Inc., Wellsr§a & Company, Wells Farc
Bank, N.A., Bank of America Corporation and BankAafierica, N.A., respectively (together with Chatbe, “Bank Defendants”), each of
whom offers our mobile imaging technology as p&itsomobile banking applications.

We have filed motions to dismiss RMII's willful inhgement claims against us in the Initial Lawsuitl motions to dismiss claims
against us in the Subsequent Lawsuits. On Novethe2014, we filed a motion to sever and stay thens against Chase in the Initial
Lawsuit pending resolution of RMII's claims againstand to transfer the claims against us to theh@on District of California. We filed
joinders to the motion to stay with respect to $ubsequent Lawsuits on November 19, 2014. All mstiare still pending before the Cot

Based on our current understanding of the claineshawe agreed to accept the demands for indemmitylefense tendered by three of
the Bank Defendants in connection with their reipedRMII Lawsuits. We are currently controllingetidefense of such claims and have
taken actions to defend the RMII Lawsuits, as niollg described above. We believe that RMII's claiare without merit and intend to
vigorously defend against those claims. We do etiebe that the results of the RMII Lawsuits wilye a material adverse effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.

Other Legal Matters

In addition to the foregoing, we are subject taaas claims and legal proceedings arising in tltnary course of our business. While
any legal proceeding has an element of uncertaivityhelieve that the disposition of such mattershe aggregate, will not have a material
effect on our financial condition or results of ogt@ons.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
None.
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PART Il
ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market Information
Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Capital Madkaler the ticker symbol “MITK.” The closing salpsce of our common
stock on November 28, 2014 was $3.46.

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal petiindicated, the high and low closing sales prim&sshare of our common stock as
reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

High Low

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014

Fourth Quarte $3.5¢ $2.1¢

Third Quartel 3.94 3.07

Second Quarte 7.0 3.6¢

First Quarte 6.9¢ 5.0t
FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

Fourth Quarte $5.92 $4.9C

Third Quartel 7.3¢€ 4.0C

Second Quarte 4.97 3.3C

First Quarte 3.61 2.0t

Holders

As of November 28, 2014, there were 333 sharehsloferecord of our common stock and an undetermimexdber of beneficial
owners.

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends on our common sfdik currently intend to retain earnings for useun business and do not
anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseefiblze.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The information required by Item 201(d) of ReguwatS-K is incorporated by reference to our defieitproxy statement filed in
connection with our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stocktesk or an amendment to this Form 10-K to be filét the SEC within 120 days after
the close of our fiscal year ended September 304.20

Sales of Equity Securities During the Period

All equity securities that we sold during the pdriamvered by this Form 1K-that were not registered under the Securitieshase bee
previously reported in our quarterly reports onrrd0-Q or on our current reports on Form 8-K.
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Performance Graph

The following information shall not be deemed tdfded” with the SEC nor shall such information liecorporated by reference into

any future filing under the Securities Act or thecBange Act, except to the extent that we speltyficecorporate it by reference into such
future filing.

The following graph and table compare the cumutatdtal stockholder return data for our commonlisfoam September 30, 2009
through September 30, 2014 to the cumulative ratuar such period of (i) a broad market index,NASDAQ Composite Index and (ii) an
industry index, the NASDAQ-100 Technology Sectatdr. The graph and table assume that $100 wasté@d/agsour common stock at $0.98
per share on September 30, 2009, and in each oétlienced indices, and assumes reinvestment divadends. The stock price
performance on the following graph and table isrmestessarily indicative of future stock price perfance.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Among Mitek Systems, Inc., the NASDAQ Compositedrnénd the NASDAQ-100 Technology Sector Index

1N
SO0, 00
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FTCHLOC
Fo(H.00
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S2{H0H)

S1TO0.00

200 210 2H HH2 2013 2014
e MIT R ceckes= NASDAQ Composite = == NASDACHT00 Technology Sector Index

The graph above reflects the following values:

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

MITK $100.0C $181.6¢ $943.8¢ $329.5¢ $526.5! $245.9:
NASDAQ Composite $100.0C $111.6( $113.8( $146.8: $177.7( $211.7:
NASDAQ-100 Technology Sector Indt $100.0C $117.8¢ $113.6¢ $135.0¢ $169.9C $215.1¢

20



Table of Contents

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following selected financial data has beenvaderirom our audited financial statements. Thisddiould be read in conjunction v
ltem 7— “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdficial Condition and Results of Operations” andfmancial statements and related
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 1@ historical results are not necessarily indveabf operating results to be expected in

the future.

Income Statement Data

Revenue

Operating (loss) incom

Net (loss) incomi

Net loss per sha—basic and dilute:
Balance Sheet Dat:

Working capital

Total asset

Long-term debi

Stockholder equity
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Selected Financial Data
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Year Ended September 30

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$19,15(  $14,80:  $ 9,09:  $10,26¢  $5,11¢
$(5,409 $(7,300 $(7.88) $ 25¢ $ (389
$(5297) $(7.279 $(7.840 $ (125 $ (682)
$ (017 $ (020 $ (0.3) $ (0.01) $(0.09
$21,48:  $2536:!  $11,00.  $17,34«  $1,42
$31,10:  $32,85!  $16,72¢  $19,85.  $3,00¢
$ — $ — $ — $ — % 68
$23,94:  $2572¢  $1355  $18,05!  $1,001
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

You should read this discussion together with ithenicial statements, related notes and other fimgrinoformation included in this Form 10-
K. The following discussion may contain predicticestimates and other forwelooking statements that involve a number of rimkd
uncertainties, including those discussed under iéw"Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 109Kese risks could cause our actual
results to differ materially from any future penfioance suggested below. Please see “Important Nmb@tAorward—Looking Statements” at
the beginning of this Form 10-K.

Overview

Mitek Systems, Inc. is a mobile solutions providagaged in the development, sale and service pfdfwietary software solutions
related to mobile imaging.

We apply our patented technology in image captogection and intelligent data extraction in thelite financial and business
applications markets. Our technology allows userginotely deposit checks, pay bills, transfer treatd balances, open accounts and get
insurance quotes by taking pictures of various dumts with their camera-equipped smartphones dnteltsainstead of using the device
keyboard. Our products use advanced algorithmer@ct image distortion, extract relevant datafedmages to their desired location and
process transactions through usérgincial institutions. As of November 28, 2014, have been granted 20 patents and have an addiiz®
patent applications pending.

Our Mobile Deposi® product is software that alloweers to remotely deposit a check using their camguipped smartphone or tab
As of September 30, 2014, 3,026 financial institosi have signed agreements to deploy Mobile Defosind 2,521 of these financial
institutions have deployed Mobile Depd8it to thmistomers, including all of the top ten, and nealliyf the top 50, U.S. retail banks, as
ranked by SNL Financial for the second quarterabéiedar year 2014.

Mobile Photo Account Opening, is a product that enables users to open a checkawvings or credit card account by capturing an
image of the front and back of their driver’s liserwith their camera-equipped smartphone or taldlebile Photo Payments is a mobile
direct bill pay solution that enables users to pilg by taking a photo of their bill followed byphoto of the check or credit/debit card being
used to pay the bill. Mobile Photo Bill Pay allowsers to pay their bills using their camera-equipgpmartphone or tablet. Mobile Balance
Transfer™ is a product that allows credit card isste provide balance transfer offers and enatdessuo transfer an existing credit card
balance and establish a new credit card accouoapturing an image of the user’s current credid ca@atement. Our mobile imaging software
solutions are available for iOS and Android ope&igsystems.

We market and sell our mobile imaging software soiis through channel partners or directly to gurise customers that typically
purchase licenses based on the number of transaaricsubscribers that use our mobile software.r@abile imaging software solutions are
often embedded in other mobile banking or enteepajgplications developed by banks, insurance coiepan their partners, and marketed
under their own proprietary brands.

Market Opportunities, Challenges and Risks

The increase in the acceptance of mobile bankininaycial institutions and their customers hagpbdldrive our recent growth in
revenue. In the past year, we experienced a sigmifincrease in the number of financial institmsidghat have integrated and launched our
mobile applications, particularly our Mobile Depgsproduct, as part of their offering of mobile barkchoices for their customers. We
believe that financial institutions see our patdrgelutions as a way to provide an enhanced custerperience and reduce the cost of sales
and service.
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To sustain our growth in 2015 and beyond, we belie must continue to offer imaging technologyrfmbile applications that address
a growing market for mobile banking and mobile imnggsolutions sold into other vertical markets. tbeg adversely affecting the pricing of
or demand for our mobile applications, such as aitipn from other products or technologies, anglide in the demand for mobile
applications, or negative publicity or obsolesceoicthe software environments in which our produgisrate, could result in lower revenues
or gross margins. Further, because most of ountegare from a single type of technology, our pcbdoncentration may make us
especially vulnerable to market demand and conipetitom other technologies, which could reduce rwenues.

The implementation cycles for our software andises/by our channel partners and customers caenigghly, often a minimum of thr
to six months and sometimes longer for larger austs, and require significant investments. For gdamas of September 30, 2014, we
executed agreements indirectly through channehpestor directly with customers covering 3,026 Meleposit® customers, 2,521 of
whom have completed implementation and launchedilgl@®posit® to their customers. If implementatidroar products by our channel
partners and customers is delayed or otherwisearmpleted, our business, financial condition arstilte of operations may be adversely
affected.

We derive revenue predominately from the saleagfises to use the products covered by our pateetbdologies, such as our Mobile
Deposit® product, and to a lesser extent by progidimaintenance and professional services for theéyats we offer. The revenue we derive
from the sale of such licenses is primarily derifr@an the sale to our channel partners of licengesll the applications we offer. Revenues
related to most of our licenses for mobile prodaeesrequired to be recognized up front upon sati&fn of all applicable revenue recognit
criteria. The recognition of future revenues frdrage licenses is dependent upon a number of fagtohsding, but not limited to, the term of
our license agreements, the timing of implementadibour products by our channel partners and austs and the timing of any re-orders of
additional licenses and/or license renewals bycbannel partners and customers.

During each of the last few years, sales of licetgs@ne or more channel partners have comprisgghéicant part of our revenue each
year. This is attributable to the timing of renesvat purchases of licenses and does not represiemtegndence on any single channel par
If we were to lose a channel partner relationsiipdo not believe such a loss would adversely affacoperations because either we or
another channel partner could sell our productbéend-user that had purchased products fromhiiene| partner we lost. However, in that
case, we or another channel partner must establislationship with the end-users, which could téke to develop, if it develops at all.

We have a growing number of competitors in the ieabnaging industry, many of which have greateafinial, technical, marketing
and other resources. However, we believe our padeéntaging and analytics technology, our growingfpbo of products for the financial
services industry and our market leadership give distinct competitive advantage. To remain coiitipef we must continue to offer
products that are attractive to the consumer akasddeing secure, accurate and convenient. Tousetpmain competitive, we intend to
continue to strengthen our portfolio of product®tigh research and development as well as parthetith other technology providers.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Year Ended September 30, 2014 ar213

The following table summarizes certain aspectsunfresults of operations for the year ended Septei®db, 2014 compared to the year
ended September 30, 2018 ¢housands, except percentades

2014 2013 Change ¢ Change %

Revenue

Software $13,31: $10,71¢ $ 2,59¢ 24%

Maintenance and professional servi 5,83¢ 4,08 1,751 43%

Total revenue $19,15( $14,80: $4,347 29%
Cost of revenu $ 2,14¢ $ 1,604 $ 544 34%
% of revenue 11% 11%
Selling and marketin $ 6,83¢€ $ 5,85z $ 984 17%
% of revenue 36% 40%
Research and developme $ 6,02( $ 6,79¢ $ (779) (11%)
% of revenue 31% 46%
General and administrati $ 9,55¢ $ 7,85: $1,701 22%
% of revenue 50% 53%
Other income (expense), r $ 11¢ $ 25 $ 93 372%
% of revenue 1% 0%
Revenue

Total revenue increased $4,347,160, or 29%, to1509345 in 2014 compared to $14,803,185 in 2018.iMbrease was primarily due
to an increase in sales of software licenses &H¥2024, or 24%, to $13,312,529 in 2014 compareil®716,505 in 2013. The increase in
software license revenue primarily relates to iasess in sales of our Mobile Depdit product duentincrease in the number of large
software licenses purchased by partners and cussame the timing of license renewals in 2014 caegbdéo 2013. Maintenance and
professional services revenue increased $1,751¢t 3%, to $5,837,816 in 2014 compared to $4,@8bi6 2013 primarily due to the sale
additional software license arrangements, whiclicglfy include recurring maintenance contracts a#l as additional professional services
engagements related to implementation assistam@fgroducts.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the costs of royaltiesHod party products embedded in our productsctist of reproduction of compact
discs and other media devices and shipping castisparsonnel costs and overhead related to softsugmgort and billable professional
services engagements. Cost of revenue increased3# or 34%, to $2,147,925 in 2014 compared {608,599 in 2013. The increase in
cost of revenue is primarily due to the increaseirenue and increased professional services yotimibillable engagements. As a percen
of revenue, cost of revenue remained consistehit%tin 2014 compared to 2013.

Selling and Marketing Expense

Selling and marketing expenses include payroll,leyge benefits and other headcount-related costxaged with sales and marketing
personnel, notillable costs of professional services personndladvertising, promotions, trade shows, seminadsogher programs. Sellir
and marketing expenses increased $983,844, or tb7$6,836,292 in 2014 compared to $5,852,448 ir82B% a percentage of revenue,

selling
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and marketing expenses decreased to 36% in 201gaserhto 40% in 2013. The increase in selling aadketing expenses is primarily due
to increased personnel-related costs, includingksbased and other incentive compensation expéutsting $1,183,990, and the decrease in
selling and marketing expenses as a percentagevefines is primarily attributable to improved opiapefficiencies resulting from our
revenue growth.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development expenses include pagmgiloyee benefits, consultant expenses and otlagichantrelated costs associal
with software engineering and mobile imaging scgerihese costs are incurred to develop new softpradgucts and to maintain and enhe
existing products. We retain what we believe tab#icient staff to sustain our existing produciels and develop new, feature-rich products.
We also employ research personnel, whose effogttatrumental in ensuring product development foomient technologies to anticipated
future generations of products within our markets.

Research and development expenses decreased ¥, 4%,83%, to $6,019,573 in 2014 compared to $64798in 2013. The decrease
is primarily due to lower outside contract serviegpense of $650,267 and recruiting costs of $B80,As a percentage of revenue, research
and development expenses decreased to 31% in @&dpared to 46% in 2013, primarily due to the iase=in revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include pawoiployee benefits, and other headcount-relatets @ssociated with finance,
administration and information technology, as veslllegal, accounting, and other administrative.f€eseral and administrative expenses
increased $1,701,117, or 22%, to $9,554,381 in 20hdpared to $7,853,264 in 2013. The increasdnsgpily due to an increase in legal fi
of $1,248,913 related to intellectual propertygtiion and patent prosecution activity, as welhaseased stock-based compensation of
$204,216. As a percentage of revenue, generaldmihastrative expenses decreased to 50% in 2014arwed to 53% in 2013, primarily due
to the increase in revenue.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest and other income, net was $124,628 in 20bdpared to $31,770 in 2013, an increase of $82@5292%, due to higher cash
balances after the Offering. Interest and otheeesp, net was $6,445 in 2014 compared to $6,88218, a decrease of $417, or 6%,
primarily related to capital lease interest.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the Year Ended September 30, 2013 ara12

The following table summarizes certain aspectsuofresults of operations for the year ended Septer®®, 2013 compared to the year
ended September 30, 201 ¢housands, except percentades

2013 2012 Change ¢ Change %
Revenue
Software $10,71¢ $6,387 $4,32¢ 68%
Maintenance and professional servi 4,08 2,70¢ 1,381 51%
Total revenue $14,80: $9,09: $5,71( 63%
Cost of revenu $ 1,60/ $1,26¢ $ 34C 27%
% of revenue 11% 14%
Selling and marketin $ 5,852 $3,45( $ 2,402 70%
% of revenue 4C% 38%
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2013 2012 Change ¢ Change %
Research and development $6,79: $6,66¢ $ 12¢ 2%
% of revenue 46% 73%
General and administrati $7,85: $5,59¢ $ 2,25 40%
% of revenue 53% 62%
Other income (expense), r $ 25 $ 37 $ (12 (32%)
% of revenue 0% 0%

Revenue

Total revenue increased $5,710,502, or 63%, to88B4185 in 2013 compared to $9,092,683 in 2012.ifitrease was primarily due to
an increase in sales of software licenses of $41330 or 68%, to $10,716,505 in 2013 compared {88361 in 2012. The increase in
software license revenue primarily relates to iases in sales of our Mobile Depdsit product dusntincrease in the number of large
software licenses purchased by partners and cussaame the timing of license renewals in 2013 caegbdéo 2012. Maintenance and
professional services revenue increased $1,380¢3%5#8,%, to $4,086,680 in 2013 compared to $2,7216i8 2012 primarily due to the sale
additional software license arrangements, whiclicglly include recurring maintenance contracts.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the costs of royaltiesHod party products embedded in our productsctist of reproduction of compact
discs and other media devices and shipping castispersonnel costs related to software supporbéladble professional services
engagements. Cost of revenue increased $339,629%rto $1,603,599 in 2013 compared to $1,263i92012. The increase in cost of
revenue is primarily due to the increase in reveangkincreased professional services activity dalité engagements. As a percentage of
revenue, cost of revenue decreased to 11% in 20hPared to 14% in 2012 primarily due to a largex ofihigher margin mobile products.

Selling and Marketing Expense

Selling and marketing expenses include payroll, leyge benefits and other headcount-related costcaded with sales and marketing
personnel, nofillable time for professional services personmal advertising, promotions, trade shows, seminagsogher programs. Sellii
and marketing expenses increased $2,402,394, oy t6085,852,448 in 2013 compared to $3,450,05D1P2As a percentage of revenue,
selling and marketing expenses increased to 402018 compared to 38% in 2012. The increase is piliyrdue to increased personnel-
related costs, including stodlased and other incentive compensation expenseeandting costs, totaling $2,026,832 related torenease i
headcount associated with the growth of our busireswell as increased travel expenses of $19@&08%5lepreciation of $69,349.

Research and Development Expent

Research and development expenses include pagmgiloyee benefits, consultant expenses and otlagichantrelated costs associal
with software engineering and mobile imaging scgerihese costs are incurred to develop new softpradgucts and to maintain and enhe
existing products. We retain what we believe tabificient staff to sustain our existing producigls and develop new, feature-rich products.
We also employ research personnel, whose effogttatrumental in ensuring product development foomient technologies to anticipated
future generations of products within our markets.

Research and development expenses increased $220r38%, to $6,793,412 in 2013 compared to $6(@®4in 2012. The increase is
primarily due to higher personnel-related costsluding stock-based and
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other incentive compensation expense and recruitists, totaling $378,201 related to an increaseadcount associated with the growth of
our business, partially offset by a decrease isidatcontract services of $278,350. As a percergagevenue, research and development
expenses decreased to 46% in 2013, compared tarn73042, primarily due to the increase in revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include pawwiployee benefits, and other headcount-relatsts @ssociated with finance,
administration and information technology, as veslllegal, accounting, and other administrative.f€eseral and administrative expenses
increased $2,257,421, or 40%, to $7,853,264 in 20b3pared to $5,595,843 in 2012. The increasdnsgpily due to an increase in legal fi
of $1,711,461 related to intellectual propertyghtiion and patent prosecution activity, as welhaseased personnetlated costs of $562,7(
including stock-based and other incentive compémsaixpenses related to an increase in headcosotiagsed with the growth of our
business. As a percentage of revenue, generaldanuhigtrative expenses decreased to 53% in 201ared to 62% in 2012, primarily due
to the increase in revenue.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income was $31,770 in 2013 compared to3844in 2012, a decrease of $12,614, or 28%, dienmer cash balances prior to
the Offering and a decrease in investment retuanisigl 2013. Interest and other expense, net wa636n 2013 compared to $7,224 in 2012,
a decrease of $362, or 5%, primarily related tatabhfease interest.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On September 30, 2014, we had $26,107,778 in aablkash equivalents and investments compared t032328 on September 30,
2013, a decrease of $2,917,550, or 10%. The decheassh and cash equivalents and investmentgrivaarily due to an increase in cash
used in operating activities. During June 2013 swalel 2,857,142 shares of our common stock at & pfié5.25 per share in the Offering and
received $13,877,447 in net proceeds, after detyetderwriting discounts and commissions and atffering expenses of $1,122,549.
Under the terms of the underwriting agreementHer®ffering, we granted the underwriter a 30-datyoopto purchase an additional 428,571
shares of our common stock to cover overallotmértte. underwriter exercised its overallotment optioning June 2013 and the closing of
the sale of shares of our common stock pursuasiich option occurred during July 2013, resultin§2n127,350 in additional net proceed:
us.

Credit Facility

In January 2011, we entered into a loan and sgcagiteement with our primary operating bank (thedh Agreement”). The Loan
Agreement permitted us to borrow, repay and redvourp to $400,000 from time to time until Januaty 2013, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agredneapired on January 31, 2013, at which time tlesee no borrowings outstanding.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activitie

Net cash used in operating activities during fi24 was $2,468,671 and resulted primarily frooméased personnel costs and other
investments in the business. These changes inusashin operating activities were partially offegtan increase in accounts receivable of
$1,454,823 associated with the timing of custoniléngs and receipt of payments and a decreaseferted revenue of $291,238. The
primary non-cash adjustments to operating actwitvere stocksased compensation expense, depreciation and aatimti, and accretion ai
amortization on debt securities totaling $3,444,48170,697, and $401,319, respectively.
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During fiscal 2013, net cash used in operatingvaigs was $615,061, which resulted primarily frbiring additional personnel and
other investments in the business. The net losgparmlly offset by increased cash provided bykig capital of $2,110,612, and increases
in the non-current portion of deferred revenue®f1125 and other long-term liabilities of $731,4%Re primary non-cash adjustments to
operating activities were stock-based compensatxpense, depreciation and amortization, and aocretid amortization on debt securities
totaling $2,791,862, $323,383 and $182,162, respyt

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activit
Net cash used in investing activities was $13,13Dduring fiscal 2014, which consisted of $11,6@88,6elated to the sale and maturity
of investments, offset by purchases of investmeh$24,642,603, and $134,652 related to the puechasd sale of property and equipment.

During fiscal 2013, net cash provided by investiagjvities was $570,888, which consisted of $6,090 related to the sale and mat.
of investments, partially offset by purchases #Estments of $4,058,975, and $1,460,871 relatéuetpurchase of property and equipment.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activitie
Net cash provided by financing activities was $386,during fiscal 2014, which included net proceeti$70,328 from the exercise of
stock options partially offset by principal paymeon capital lease obligations of $18,892.

During fiscal 2013, net cash provided by financagvities was $16,636,539, which included net peats of $16,004,797 from the
Offering and net proceeds of $648,656 from the @gerof stock options, partially offset by prindipayments on capital lease obligations of
$16,914.

Other Liquidity Matters

On September 30, 2014, we had investments of $18,88, designated as available-for-sale marketstarities, which consisted of
commercial paper and corporate issuances, carriedt aalue as determined by quoted market prioegdentical or similar assets, with
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, and repp@3s a separate component of stockholapsity. All securities for which maturity or sak
expected within one year are classified as “cufrentthe balance sheet. All other securities aasgified as “long-term” on the balance sheet.
At September 30, 2014, we had $16,269,170 of oailae-for-sale securities classified as current $2,072,018 classified as long-term. At
September 30, 2013, all of our available-for-saleusities were classified as current.

We had working capital of $21,484,020 at Septen30e2014, compared to $25,363,197 at September(3(R.

Based on our current operating plan, we believetient cash balance and cash expected to beageddérom operations will be
adequate to satisfy our working capital needstferrtext 12 months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as definteem 304(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual gdgiions as of September 30, 2034 thousandy:

Contractual More thai

obligations by period Less than

as of September 30, 20 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years Total
Operating lease obligations $495,98: $1,037,04 $958,93: $ — $2,491,95!
Capital lease obligatior 29,01: 26,34 — — 55,35¢
Purchase obligatior 425,00( 250,00( — — 675,00(
Total $949,99: $1,313,38' $958,93: $ — $3,222,31.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements and accompanying notepraggared in accordance with accounting princigkrserally accepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP"). Preparing financial statements requireanmagement to make estimates and assumptions téet e reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, stockholders’ equity, revenue, expenaad related disclosure of contingent assetsiabitities. Management regularly evaluates
its estimates and assumptions. These estimatessandptions are based on historical experiencemandrious other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstaaoesform the basis for making management’s mo#tdit, subjective or complex
judgments, often as a result of the need to makaat®s about the effects of matters that are aftr uncertain. Actual results could v
from those estimates under different assumptiort®nditions. Our critical accounting policies indturevenue recognition, allowance for
accounts receivable, investments, fair value oftggustruments, accounting for income taxes angltatized software development costs.

Revenue Recognitio
We enter into contractual arrangements with integsaresellers and directly with our customers thay include licensing of our
software products, product support and maintenaaoéces, consulting services or various combinatibereof, including the sale of such
products or services separately. Our accountinigipslregarding the recognition of revenue for ¢hesntractual arrangements is fully
described in Note 1 to our financial statementtuihed in this Form 10-K.
We consider many factors when applying GAAP to neserecognition. These factors include, but ardinoted to, whether:
» Persuasive evidence of an arrangement e;
» Delivery of the product or performance of the segvas occurret
* The fees are fixed or determinak
» Collection of the contractual fee is probable; .
* Vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair \veahbf undelivered elements or other appropriate atktf revenue allocation
exists.

Each of the relevant factors is analyzed to deteerits impact, individually and collectively withieer factors, on the revenue to be
recognized for any particular contract with a caso. Management is required to make judgments daygathe significance of each factor in
applying the revenue recognition standards, asagelthether or not each factor complies with stahdards. Any misjudgment or error by
management in its evaluation of the factors andaffication of the standards, especially with eesppo complex or new types of
transactions, could have a material adverse effectur future revenues and operating results.
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Accounts Receivabl

We consistently monitor collections from our cuséwmand maintain a provision for estimated crexisés that is based on historical
experience and on specific customer collectiondssWhile such credit losses have historically beihin our expectations and the
provisions established, we cannot guarantee thatiweontinue to experience the same credit l@ges that we have in the past. Since our
revenue recognition policy requires customers tddzmed creditworthy, our accounts receivable asedon customers whose payment is
reasonably assured. Our accounts receivable areddrom sales to a wide variety of customers. daot believe a change in liquidity of
any one customer or our inability to collect fromyane customer would have a material adverse itrgraour financial position.

Investments

We determine the fair value of our assets andliieds based on the exchange price that would beived for an asset or paid to tran:
a liability (an exit price) in the principal or mosdvantageous market for the asset or liabilitgrirorderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. Valuatidmigoes used to measure fair value maximize thetisbservable inputs and minimize 1
use of unobservable inputs. We use a fair valuehiby with three levels of inputs, of which thesfitwo are considered observable and the
last unobservable, to measure fair value:

* Level }—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities;

» Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are obsdejadither directly or indirectly, such as quoteit@s for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are active; or other inputs that are observable ortmanorroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of tesets or liabilities; ar

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportedttdy br no market activity and that are significémthe fair value of the assets
or liabilities.

In using this fair value hierarchy, management inayequired to make assumptions about pricing biketgarticipants and
assumptions about risk, specifically when usinghseovable inputs to determine fair value. Thesaraptions are subjective in nature and
may significantly affect our results of operations.

Fair Value of Equity Instruments

The valuation of certain items, including valuatmfwarrants, the beneficial conversion featuratesl to convertible debt and
compensation expense related to stock optionsegtamvolves significant estimates based on undeylgssumptions made by management.
The valuation of warrants and stock options arethapon a Black-Scholes valuation model, which ve® estimates of stock volatility,
expected life of the instruments and other assumgti

Deferred Income Taxe

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying anmohassets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts ugethfome tax purposes. We maintain a valuatiamwalhce against deferred tax assets due
to uncertainty regarding the future realizationdshen historical taxable income, projected futaseable income, and the expected timing of
the reversals of existing temporary differencestildnch time as we can demonstrate that we willamger incur losses or if we are unable to
generate sufficient future taxable income, we caiddequired to maintain the valuation allowancai@gf our deferred tax assets.
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Capitalized Software Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged tosxpsrincurred. Costs incurred for the developmecbmputer software that will |
sold, leased or otherwise marketed are capitalizezh technological feasibility has been establisiégse capitalized costs are subject to an
ongoing assessment of recoverability based onipated future revenues and changes in hardwarsafhdare technologies. Costs that are
capitalized include direct labor and related ovathéNo such costs were capitalized during the ffigears ended September 30, 2014 and
2013.

Amortization of capitalized software developmenstsdoegins when product sales commence. Amortizétiprovided on a product-by-
product basis on either the straight-line methoer @eriods not exceeding three years or the salesmethod. Unamortized capitalized
software development costs determined to be ingsxakthe net realizable value of the product apeersed immediately.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK.

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time im&ing after-tax yields without
significantly increasing risk. To achieve this atijee, we maintain our investment portfolio of castuivalents and marketable securities in a
variety of securities, including corporate debts#@®s, commercial paper and certificates of dép®ge have not used derivative financial
instruments in our investment portfolio, and nohewr investments are held for trading or specuapiurposes. Short-term and long-term
marketable securities are generally classifiedvafiable-for-sale and consequently are recordetheralance sheet at fair value with
unrealized gains or losses reported as a separaiponent of accumulated other comprehensive incoeteyf estimated tax. Marketable
securities as of September 30, 2014 had remainatgrities between approximately one and eight mer@lur short-term marketable
securities had a fair market value of $16,269, i7®emtember 30, 2014, representing approximatedy Rour total assets.

The fair value of our cash equivalents and marketsdcurities is subject to change as a resulhafges in market interest rates and
investment risk related to the issuers’ credit Wimess. We do not utilize financial contracts tanange our investment portfolio’s exposure to
changes in market interest rates. A hypothetic@lldasis point increase or decrease in market sitemges would not have a material impact
on the fair value of our cash equivalents and ntalike securities due to the relatively short méesiof these investments. While changes in
market interest rates may affect the fair valuewfinvestment portfolio, any gains or losses wit be recognized in our results of operations
until the investment is sold or if the reductiorfair value was determined to be an other-than-taany impairment.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our financial statements and supplementary datainedby this item are set forth at the pages s in Part IV, Item 15(a)(1) and (a)
(2), respectively, of this Form 10-K.

ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresueb term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15é)l&fder the Exchange Act, that
are designed to provide reasonable assurancentbatiation required to be

31



Table of Contents

disclosed by us in the reports that we file or sitilmder the Exchange Act is recorded, processedirarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, aatlguch information is accumulated and communictt®ur management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financificer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisiorgarding required financial disclosures.
Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executiffecer and principal financial officer,

we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure ctstind procedures as of the end of the period eoMey this Form 1. We recognize th:
any controls and procedures, no matter how welgdesl and operated, can provide only reasonableasse of achieving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgmentdtuating the cost-benefit relationship of possitintrols and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our principal executive officer andngipal financial officer concluded that our disalos controls and procedures were effective
as of September 30, 2014.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) underBEiehange Act. All internal control systems, no reattow well designed, have inherent
limitations. Therefore, even those systems detexcthto be effective can provide only reasonablerasse with respect to financial statement
preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemtiess of our internal control over financial repgrtased on the framework limternal
Control—Integrated Framework (1992%sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission. Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that ourriatarontrol over financial reporting was effecta® of September 30, 2014.

Our internal control over financial reporting haseh audited by Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C., an inddpat registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report appepbielow, which expresses an unqualified opiniotheneffectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There has been no change in our internal contrat fimancial reporting during the year ended Sepem30, 2014 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesdf, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE.

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to our definitive proxy statemdatifin connection with our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendmenhi®FEorm 10-K to be filed with the SEC within 128yd after the close of our fiscal year
ended September 30, 2014.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to our definitive proxy statemdatlfin connection with our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendmenhi®Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC within 128yg after the close of our fiscal year
ended September 30, 2014.

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to our definitive proxy statemdatifin connection with our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendmenhi®Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC within 128yg after the close of our fiscal year
ended September 30, 2014.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to our definitive proxy statemdatifin connection with our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendmenhi®FEorm 10-K to be filed with the SEC within 128ys after the close of our fiscal year
ended September 30, 2014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to our definitive proxy statemdatlfin connection with our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendmenhi®Eorm 10-K to be filed with the SEC within 128yg after the close of our fiscal year
ended September 30, 2014.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(2)(2) Financial Statements

The Financial Statements of Mitek Systems, Inc.Ragort of Independent Registered Public Accourfiingn are included in a separ
section of this Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

These schedules have been omitted because theacbinformation is included in the financial statsits or notes thereto or because
they are not applicable or not required.

(a)(3) Exhibits

Incorporated by
Reference from

Exhibit No. Description Document
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Mitek Syss, Inc., as amende *
3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Mitek Systhros (1)
4.1 Form of debenture issued on December 10, 2 (2
4.2 Form of warrant issued on December 10, 2( (2

10.1 Mitek Systems, Inc. 2000 Stock Option PI 3)
10.2 Mitek Systems, Inc. 2002 Stock Option PI (4)
10.3 Mitek Systems, Inc. 2006 Stock Option PI (5)
10.4 Mitek Systems, Inc. 2010 Stock Option Pl (6)
10.5 Mitek Systems, Inc. 2012 Incentive Plan, as amer (7
10.6 Mitek Systems, Inc. Director Restricted Stock Uridn. (8)
10.7 Mitek Systems, Inc. 401(k) Savings PI 9)
10.8 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated Deeefith 2009, between Mitek Systems, Inc.

and certain accredited investc (2
10.9 Form of Security Agreement dated, December 10, 2088veen Mitek Systems, Inc. and cetr

secured partie! (2
10.13 Underwriting Agreement, dated June 25, 2013, batvidigek Systems, Inc. and William Blair

& Company, L.L.C. (20)
10.14 Executive Severance and Change of Control Plaeddatbruary 28, 2011, by and between

Mitek Systems, Inc. and James B. DeBe (12)
10.15 Offer Letter, dated October 3, 2011, by and betwdeak Systems, Inc. and Russell C. Cle (12)
10.16 Executive Severance and Change of Control Plapddattober 11, 2011, by and between N

Systems, Inc. and Russell C. Cle (12)
10.17 Offer Letter, dated June 6, 2012, by and betwedarkvBystems, Inc. and Michael Diamo 9)
10.18 Offer Letter, dated June 11, 2012, by and betwegek\Bystems, Inc. and Michael Stran 9)
10.19 Offer Letter, dated May 10, 2013, by and betweetekBystems, Inc. and Scott Car 9)
10.20 Form of Executive Severance and Change of Contawl. (12)
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Incorporated by
Reference from

Exhibit No. Description Document
10.21 Form of Indemnification Agreemer *
10.22 Mitek Systems, Inc. Executive Bonus Program Fis@ar 2014 (13)
10.23 Mitek Systems, Inc. Executive Bonus Program Fi¥@ar 201¢ 1)
10.24 Lease, dated September 13, 2005, by and betweemARedalty Finance V, L.L.C. and Mitek

Systems, Inc., as amend (14)
23.1 Consent of Mayer Hoffman McCann P. *
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature pa *
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934. *
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer PursuantRule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934. *
32.1 Certification Chief Executive Officer and Chief Bimcial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 *

101 Financial statements from the Annual Report on FborK of Mitek Systems, Inc. for the year

(9)

(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

ended September 30, 2014, formatted in XBRL: @) Balance Sheets, (ii) the Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Loss, (iii)Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (iv) the
Statements of Cash Flows, (v) the Notes to theri€iiaa Statements *

Filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to the Com’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 20:

Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on December 16, 201

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thenffany s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the SEC on March 30, 20(
Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thenffany s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the SEC on July 7, 20C
Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thenany s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the SEC on May 3, 200
Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thenGany s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the SEC on March 14, 201
Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thenGany' s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed with the SEC on February 26, 20
Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Cany's Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SECJamuary 18, 201:
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s AhiReport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year endegt&mber 30, 2013 filed with the
SEC on December 12, 201

Incorporated by reference to the Com's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Incorporated by reference to the Comg's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 201

Incorporated by reference to the Com's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on October 13, 20:

Incorporated by reference to the Com’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on December 17, 20

Incorporated by reference to the Company’suahiReport on Form 10-K for the fiscal year endegt®mber 30, 2012 filed with the
SEC on December 7, 201
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

December 5, 201

MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /sl James B. DeBello
James B. DeBell
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below hereby severatistitates and
appoints James B. DeBello and Russell C. Clarkohtger true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fadth full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or hemea place and stead, in any and all capacitiesigtbany and all amendments to this report,
and to file the same, with all exhibits theretod ather documents in connection therewith, with@menmission, granting unto said attorney-
in-fact full power and authority to do and perfoeach and every act and thing requisite or nece$styyto all intents and purposes as he or
she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying aonfirming all that said attorney-in-fact aneagor his or her substitute or substitutes,

may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue héreo

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

/sl James B. DeBello

James B. DeBell

/s/ Russell C. Clark

Russell C. Clarl

/s/ John M. Thornton

John M. Thorntor

/s/ Vinton P. Cunningham

Vinton P. Cunninghar

/s/ Gerald I. Farmer

Gerald I. Farme

/sl James C. Hale

James C. Hal

/s/ Bruce E. Hansen

Bruce E. Hanse

/sl Alex W. Hart

Alex W. Hart

President and Chief Executive Officer and Director December 5, 2014
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

December 5, 2014

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director December 5, 2014

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Mitek Systems, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance shedtal Systems, Inc. as of September 30, 2014 ai@ 24nd the related statements of
operations and other comprehensive loss, stockigldquity and cash flows for each of the threeyéathe period ended September 30,
2014. These financial statements are the respditysitfithe Company’s management. Our responsibititto express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on lasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Mitek Systems, Inc. as
of September 30, 2014 and 2013, and the resuits operations and its cash flows for each of ted years in the period ended
September 30, 2014, in conformity with accountinggples generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Mitek Systems
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting @sSeptember 30, 2014, based on criteria estadulighinternal Control—Integrated
Framework (1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regeted
December 5, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/sl Mayer Hoffman McCann P.(
San Diego, Californi
December 5, 201
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Mitek Systems, Inc.

We have audited Mitek Systems, Inc.’s internal oardver financial reporting as of September 3@ £M®mased on criteria established in
Internal Contro—Integrated Framework (19924%sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway Commission (COS
Mitek Systems, Inc.’s management is responsiblefaintaining effective internal control over findgaaeporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over finaheggporting included in the accompanying ManagerseRéport on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the Company’s internal controlr direncial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditndéinal control over financial reporting includdataining an understanding of internal con
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thatagerial weakness exists, and testing and evafyétie design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Quit also included performing such other proceda®®/e considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provide=sagonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financékstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeionrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (Bjige reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@iiz statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Mitek Systems, Inc. maintainedalhmaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of September 30,
2014, based on criteria establishedniternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization
of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the balance shi
and the related statements of operations and otimeprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and 8asls of Mitek Systems, Inc., and our
report dated December 5, 2014 expressed an urigdadipinion.

/sl Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
San Diego, California
December 5, 2014
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ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, n
Other current asse
Total current asse
Long-term investment
Property and equipment, r
Other nor-current assel
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and related tax
Deferred revenue, current porti
Other current liabilitie:

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue, n-current portior
Other nor-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholder equity

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 1,000,000 stearg®rized, none issued and outstani
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 60,000,000 andd®M000 shares authorized, respectively;

MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

30,521,080 and 30,361,442 issued and outstandiagectively

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince

Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

September 30

2014

$ 7,766,59
16,269,17
2,955,35!
27,695,51
2,072,01
1,293,271
42,04¢

$ 31,102,85

$ 1,792,26
1,434,91
2,826,67

157,64
6,211,49
311,22¢
638,09¢
7,160,82:

30,52
59,946,28
(7,810
(36,026,96)
23,942,03

$ 31,102,85

The accompanying notes form an integral part afetfenancial statements.
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2013

$ 23,294,45
5,730,87.
1,494,62

661,70t
31,181,66

1,629,66.
42,04¢

$ 1,875,90
1,455,48
2,335,533

151,53t
5,818,46.
511,12!
795,04.
7,124,633

30,36
56,431,64
1,83¢
(30,735,09)
25,728,74

$ 32,853,37
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Revenue

Software
Maintenance and professional servi

Total revenue

MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LO SS

Operating costs and expen:
Cost of revent-software
Cost of revenL-maintenance and professional servi

Selling and marketin

Research and developmt
General and administratiy

Total costs and expens
Operating los!

Other income (expense), r

Interest and other incon
Interest and other expen

Total other income (expense), |

Loss before income tax
Income tax provision (benefi

Net loss

Net loss per sha—basic and dilute:
Shares used in calculating net loss per <—basic and dilute:

Other comprehensive los

Net loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on investme
Other comprehensive lo

For the years ended September 3

2014 2013 2012

$13,312,52  $10,716,50  $ 6,386,36.
5,837,81 4,086,68 2,706,32;
19,150,34 14,803,18 9,092,68.
1,001,45! 744,84 540,32:
1,146,471 858,75 723,59
6,836,29; 5,852,44: 3,450,05.
6,019,57: 6,793,41; 6,664,03!
9,554,38; 7,853,26. 5,595,84:
24,558,17 22,102,72 16,973,84
(5,407,82) (7,299,53) (7,881,16)
124,62t 31,77( 44,38
(6,445) (6,867) (7,22¢)
118,18: 24,90¢ 37,16(
(5,289,64) (7,274,63) (7,844,00)
2,22¢ 1,07¢ (4,006)
$(5,291,86)  $(7.275,70)  $(7,839,99)
$ (019 $ (020 $ (030
30,466,06 27,492,67 25,124,17
$(5,291,86)  $(7,275,70)  $(7,839,99)
(9,64¢) 2,45¢ 9,23¢
$(5,301,51)  $(7.273,25)  $(7.830,75)

The accompanying notes form an integral part afetfenancial statements.
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MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
For the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and 20

Common Stoct

Accumulated
Other

Additional Comprehensive Total
Outstanding Common Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’
(Shares) Stock Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity
Balance, September 30, 2011 24,144,36 $24,14: $33,660,39  $(15,619,39) $ (9,85%) $18,055,29
Exercise of stock optior 1,739,92. 1,74C 730,54 — — 732,28
Exercise of warrant 110,92¢ 111 (117 — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 2,599,85! — — 2,599,85!
Components of comprehensive incot
Net loss — — — (7,839,99) — (7,839,99))
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
investment: — — — — 9,23¢ 9,23¢
Total comprehensive lo: (7,830,75)
Balance, September 30, 20 25,995,21 $25,99¢ $36,990,69 $(23,459,39) $ (61€) $13,556,67
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance
costs of $1,245,19 3,285,71 3,28¢ 16,001,51 — — 16,004,79
Exercise of stock optior 1,042,87. 1,04: 713,42¢ — — 714,46
Settlement of restricted stock un 37,64 37 (65,85() — — (65,819
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 2,791,86; — — 2,791,86;
Components of other comprehensive
income:
Net loss — — — (7,275,70) — (7,275,70)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
investmentt — — — — 2,45¢ 2,45¢
Total other comprehensive lo (7,273,25)
Balance, September 30, 20 30,361,44 $30,36. $56,431,64 $(30,735,09) $ 1,83t $25,728,74
Exercise of stock optior 105,28 10t 118,64¢ — — 118,75
Settlement of restricted stock un 54,35¢ 55 (48,487 — — (48,42¢)
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 3,444,48 — — 3,444,48
Components of other comprehensive
income:
Net loss — — — (5,291,86) — (5,291,86)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
investments — — — — (9,649 (9,649
Total other comprehensive lo (5,301,51)
Balance, September 30, 20 30,521,08 $30,52: $59,946,28 $(36,026,96) $ (7,810 $23,942,03

The accompanying notes form an integral part afetfenancial statements.
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MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Stocl-based compensation expel
Depreciation and amortizatic
Accretion and amortization on debt securi
Provision for bad det
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipr
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and related tax
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activit
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investmer
Sales and maturities of investme
Purchases of property and equipmr
Sale of property and equipme
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, nissoénce costs of $0,
$1,245,196 and $0, respectiv
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and stock optioet
Principal payments on capital lease obligati
Net cash provided by financing activiti
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOI
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOI

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO
Cash paid for intere:

Cash paid for income tax

NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Unrealized holding gain (loss) on available foresavestment

Cashless exercise of option and warri
Cashless settlement of restricted stock L
Capital lease obligatior

For the years ended September 3

2014
$ (5,291,86)

3,444,48
470,69
401,31

(5,900)
34¢

(1,454,82)
(88,007)
(83,64%)
(20,579)
291,23

(131,939
(2,468,67)

(24,642,60)
11,666,62

(135,45:)
80C

(13,110,63)

70,32¢

(18,89:)
51,43¢
(15,527,86)
23,294,45

$ 7,766,59

$ 6,11¢
$ 2,22¢

$ (9,649
$ 3
$ 15
$ -

2013

2012

$(7,275,70)  $ (7,839,99)
2,791,86: 2,599,85
323,38 231,98:
182,16: 261,39
(5,779 (3,57))
(1,097 —
(391,54 1,862,55!
(213,65)) (180,36
1,163,95 353,04:
728,52 230,95
1,214,57; 758,85!
868,25 (53,476)
(615,06 (1,778,76)
(4,058,97) (12,187,52)
6,090,73. 14,635,00
(1,497,49) (339,71}
36,62 —
570,88t 2,107,76
16,004,79 —
648,65 732,28°
(16,919 (14,916
16,636,53 717,37
16,592,36 1,046,37:
6,702,091 5,655,71
$23,294,45 $ 6,702,09
$ 8,09 $ 10,39
$ 1,07 $ 80C
$  2,45¢ $ 9,23¢
$ 12F $ 41C
$ 32 $ —
$ — $ 9538t

The accompanying notes form an integral part ofetfenancial statements.

F-7



Table of Contents

MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2I»

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACC OUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Mitek Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) is a mobilewtans provider engaged in the development, salesarvice of its proprietary
software solutions.

The Company applies its patented technology in er@pture, correction and intelligent data exteercin the mobile financial and
business services markets. The Company’s technallbayys users to remotely deposit checks, pay,litssfer credit card balances, open
accounts and get insurance quotes by taking pewfrgarious documents with their cameipped smartphones and tablets instead of
the device keyboard. The Company’s products usaramhd algorithms to correct image distortion, ettralevant data, route images to their
desired location and process transactions throaghsufinancial institutions. As of November 28,120the Company’s has been granted 20
patents and it has an additional 23 patent apfitaipending.

The Company’s Mobile Deposit product is softwarat thllows users to remotely deposit a check ugieig tamera-equipped
smartphone or tablet. As of September 30, 201263fidancial institutions have signed agreementiefaloy Mobile Deposi® , and 2,521 of
these financial institutions have deployed MobilepDsit® to their customers, including all of the tep nearly all of the top 50 U.S. retail
banks, as ranked by SNL Financial for the secoradtquof calendar 2014. The Company’s Mobile Piatoount Opening” product enables
users to open a checking, savings or credit cazduait by capturing an image of the front and bdakeir driver’s license with their camera-
equipped smartphone or tablet. Other mobile imagofgvare solutions the Company offers include NeBihoto Payments, a product that
enables users to pay bills by taking a photo af thié followed by a photo of the check or creditbit card being used to pay the bill, Mobile
Photo Bill Pay®, a mobile bill payment product that allows userpag their bills using their camera-equipped smamtyghor tablet and
Mobile Balance Transféet, a product that allows credit card issuers to previdlance transfer offers and enables users tsféraan existing
credit card balance and establish a new creditaecdunt by capturing an image of the user’s cticedit card statement. The Company’s
mobile imaging software solutions are availablei@® and Android operating systems.

The Company markets and sells its mobile imagirityvswe solutions through channel partners or diyectenterprise customers that
typically purchase licenses based on of the nurobfansactions or subscribers that use our maloifevare. The Company’mobile imaging
software solutions are often embedded in other ladiainking or enterprise applications developebtdnyks, insurance companies or their
partners, and marketed under their own propridteands.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements are prepared under thenEial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) AccougtiStandards Codification
(“ASC") Topic 105-10,Generally Accepted Accounting Principleis accordance with accounting principles gengraticepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP").

Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassifiesbnform to the current period presentation.seh@classifications do not impact

the reported net loss and do not have a materjzdton the presentation of the overall finandiatesnents.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affect
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenyperses and related disclosure of
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contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoirgild)ananagement reviews its estimates based upmendy available information. Actual
results could differ materially from those estingat€hese estimates include, but are not limiteddeessing the collectability of accounts
receivable, estimation of the value of stock-basmtdpensation awards and income taxes.

Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculates net income (loss) per shaecordance with FASB ASC Topic 2@8arnings Per ShareBasic net income
(loss) per share is based on the weighted averagber of common shares outstanding during the geBiduted net income (loss) per share
also gives effect to all potentially dilutive seitiés outstanding during the period, such as opgtierarrants and restricted stock units
(“RSUs"), if dilutive. In a period with a net log®sition, potentially dilutive securities are notluded in the computation of diluted net loss
because to do so would be antidilutive, and thebarmof shares used to calculate basic and dilugetbes is the same.

At September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the followpiogentially dilutive common shares were excludedfthe net loss per share
calculation, as they would have been antidilutive:

2014 2013 2012
Stock options 2,334,322 2,824,96. 3,512,28i
Warrants 6,667 6,667 6,667
Restricted stock unit 1,101,30:. 692,50« 515,83
Total potentially dilutive common shares outstanc 3,442,29 3,524,13! 4,034,78

The computation of basic and diluted net loss paresfor the fiscal years ended September 30, Z8I¥3 and 2012 is as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $(5,291,86) $(7,275,70) $(7,839,99)
Weightec-average common shares and share equivalents alitg—basic 30,446,06 27,492,67 25,124,17
Effect of dilutive stock option — — —
Weightec-average common shares and share equivalents alitg—diluted 30,446,06 27,492,67 25,124,17
Net loss per shar

Basic $ (0.1%) $ (0.2¢) $ (0.3))
Diluted $ (0.17%) $ (0.2¢) $ (0.3))

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of software licenses sold thraligect and indirect channels is recognized uggpnsent of the related product, if
the requirements of FASB ASC Topic 985-688ftware Revenue Recogniti8ASC 985-605") are met, including evidence of an
arrangement, delivery, fixed or determinable fedlectability and vendor specific objective eviderltVSOE”") of the fair value of the
undelivered element. If the requirements of ASC-885 are not met at the date of shipment, revennetisecognized until such elements
known or resolved. Revenue from customer suppovices, or maintenance revenue, includes post-aohsupport and the rights to
unspecified upgrades and enhancements. VSOE ofdhie for customer support services is determieceference to the price the custol
pays for such element when sold separately; th#ttesrenewal rate offered to customers. In thoseahces when objective and reliable
evidence of fair
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value exists for the undelivered items but nottfer delivered items, the residual method is usedidcate the arrangement consideration.
Under the residual method, the amount of arrangépwersideration allocated to the delivered itemsaégjthe total arrangement considera
less the aggregate fair value of the undeliveremst Revenue from post-contract customer suppeoetignized ratably over the term of the
contract. Certain customers have agreements theaiderfor usage fees above fixed minimums. Fixedimiim transaction fees are
recognized as revenue ratably over the term oattegement. Usage fees above fixed minimums aognized as revenue when such
amounts are reasonably estimable and billable. Re/&om professional services is recognized whieh services are delivered. When a
software sales arrangement requires professionates related to significant production, modificator customization of software, or when
a customer considers professional services eskenttee functionality of the software product, eenwe is recognized based on predetermined
milestone objectives required to complete the ptojs those milestone objectives are deemed soilitantive in relation to the work
performed. Any expected losses on contracts inrpssgare recorded in the period in which the lobsesme probable and reasonably
estimable.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as highlidlfinancial instruments with original maturitiesthree months or less. A substan
portion of the Company’s cash is deposited with fimencial institution. The Company monitors thedaincial condition of this financial
institution and does not believe that funds on démoe subject to a significant degree of risk.

Investments

Investments consist of corporate notes and bomdiscemmercial paper. The Company classifies investsas available-for-sale at the
time of purchase and reevaluates such classifitasoof each balance sheet date. All investmeatseaprded at estimated fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses for available-for-sataurities are included in accumulated other coheprsive income, a component of
stockholders’ equity. The Company evaluates itestments to assess whether those with unrealizsglusitions are other than temporarily
impaired. Impairments are considered to be othan-temporary if they are related to deterioratiogriedit risk or if it is likely that the
Company will sell the securities before the recg\adrits cost basis. Realized gains and lossedlantines in value judged to be other-than-
temporary are determined based on the specifidifaeion method and are reported in other incdmense), net in the Statements of
Operations. No other-than-temporary impairment géamwere recognized in the fiscal years ended Béete30, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

All investments whose maturity or sale is expectitiin one year are classified as “curreati the balance sheet. All other securities
classified as “long-term” on the balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, invests@agcounts receivable, accounts payable and atitened liabilities are consider
representative of their respective fair values bseaf the short-term nature of those instruments.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Aot®
Accounts receivable, net, is as follows (in thowsgn

September 3( September 3l

2014 2013
Accounts receivable $2,961,45! $1,506,62
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (6,100 (12,000
Accounts receivable, n $2,955,35! $1,494,62
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Trade accounts receivable are recorded at theneice value and are not interest bearing. The Gaomgonsiders receivables past due
based on the contractual payment terms. Allowafaredoubtful accounts are established based owwsifiactors including credit profiles of
the Company’s customers, contractual terms anditionsl, historical payments, and current econom@nds. The Company reviews its
allowances by assessing individual accounts reblh@ver a specific aging and amount. Accountsivabée are written off on a case-bgse
basis, net of any amounts that may be collected.ddmpany had no write-offs of the allowance foulatful accounts for the years ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Deferred Maintenance Fees

Deferred maintenance fees consist of capitalizetsassociated with software maintenance feestpaiendors who supply licenses
and maintenance for software embedded in the Cop'gpproducts that it sells to customers. Thesensot maintenance fees, which are
included in other current assets on the balancetsaee typically billed annually to the Companyl ame amortized to cost of revenue-
maintenance and professional services in the Seatenof Operations over the maintenance period;iwisitypically one year.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost. ThHeviolg is a summary of property and equipment aSegftember 30, 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013
Property and equipme—at cost;
Equipment $1,177,36 $1,054,86:
Furniture and fixture 227,18¢ 227,18
Leasehold improvemen 980,83" 975,83
2,385,391 2,257,89!
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (1,092,12j) (628,23)
Total property and equipment, t $ 1,293,27 $1,629,66.

Depreciation and amortization of property and emgpt are provided using the straight-line methoer @stimated useful lives ranging
from three to five years. Leasehold improvemengsaanortized over the lease term. Depreciation amattézation of property and equipment
totaled $470,697, $323,383 and $140,146 for troalfigears ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and gf#&ctively. Included in property a
equipment as of September 30, 2014 and 2013 itatie above is equipment of $95,388 purchased umdapital lease. Depreciation
expense related to the equipment purchased uneleafital lease was $19,078, $19,078 and $17,4Btifiscal years ended September 30,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and accumutigpdeciation was $55,644 and $36,566 at Septenfh@034 and 2013, respectively.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are ctameperations. Total repairs and maintenanceresgsewere $115,792, $97,532 and
$57,815 for the fiscal years ended September 304,22013 and 2012, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the carrying value of ltived assets, including license agreements and attengible assets, when events
circumstances indicate that these assets may karigdpor in order to determine whether any revismthe related amortization periods
should be made. This evaluation is based on managt&hprojections of the undiscounted future cémivs associated with each product or
asset. If managemeantévaluation indicates that the carrying valuethe$e intangible assets were impaired, the impaittoebe recognized
measured by the amount by which the carrying amofitite assets exceeds the fair value of the asietsCompany did not record any
impairment for the fiscal years ended Septembe2304, 2013 and 2012.
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Capitalized Software Development Costs

Costs incurred for the development of software #iitbe sold, leased, or otherwise marketed apstabized when technological
feasibility has been established. Software devetyroosts consist primarily of compensation of dgwment personnel and related overhead
incurred to develop new products and upgrade ahdrere the Company’s current products, as welles faid to outside consultants.
Capitalization of software development costs ceasdsamortization of capitalized software developtm®sts commences when the prod
are available for general release. For the fiseaty ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, no softieaetopment costs were capitalized
because the time period and cost incurred betwesdmmological feasibility and general release fosaftware product releases were not
material.

The Company evaluates its capitalized software ldpmeent costs at each balance sheet date to dateifhthe unamortized balance
related to any given product exceeds the estintatedealizable value of that product. Any such egde written off through accelerated
amortization in the quarter in which it is idergifi. Determining net realizable value, as define#A$B ASC Topic 985-20Accounting for
the Costs of Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otkeriiarketed requires making estimates and judgments in giyargithe appropriate
amount to write off, if any. Actual amounts reatiZzeom the software products could differ from te@stimates. Also, any future changes to
the Company’s product portfolio could result inrsfigcant increases to its cost of license reversia eesult of the write-off of capitalized
software development costs.

The Company recorded no amortization of softwakeligpment costs for the fiscal years ended SepteBhe2014 and 2013. The
Company recorded amortization of software develogroests of $91,438 for the fiscal year ended Sepés 30, 2012. The Company recc
amortization of software development costs as abstvenue-software in the Statements of Operations

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenues represent advance paymentdingbifor software licenses, professional servamed maintenance billed in advance
of the time we recognize the related revenues. mEfenaintenance revenue represents customergsillpaid up front, generally annually at
the beginning of each maintenance period, withmaeeecognized ratably over such period. For aedtier licensing arrangements, revenue
attributable to undelivered elements, includingtfmtract customer support which typically incladelephone support and the right to
receive unspecified upgrades and enhancements$tafise on a when-and-if-available basis, is baggahithe sales price of those elements
when sold separately and is recognized ratably stragght-line basis over the term of the arranggme

Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Compampisubject to potential obligations under guarasitbat fall within the scope of
FASB ASC Topic 460Guaranteeg“ASC 460"), except for standard indemnificatiordamarranty provisions that are contained within ynan
of the Company’s customer license and service aggats and certain supplier agreements, and gigeorily to the disclosure requirements
prescribed by ASC 460. Indemnification and warrgmyvisions contained within the Company’s custolitemse and service agreements
and certain supplier agreements are generally st@miwith those prevalent in the Company’s indqusthe Company has not historically
incurred significant obligations under customereimhification or warranty provisions and does ngiest to incur significant obligations in
the future. Accordingly, the Company does not namaccruals for potential customer indemnificatiwrwarranty-related obligations.

Loss Contingencies

The Company records its best estimates of a lassng@ncy when it is considered probable and thewarcan be reasonably estima
When a range of loss can be reasonably estimatadhwibest estimate in the range, the Company dsdbe minimum estimated liability
related to the claim. As additional information betes available, the Company assesses the potiétiifity related to the Company’s
pending loss contingency and
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revises its estimates. The Company discloses amrities if there is at least a reasonable poggitiilat a loss or an additional loss may have
been incurred. The Company’s legal costs are exgkeas incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeFASB ASC Topic 740income Taxe§'ASC 740"). Deferred tax assets and
liabilities arise from temporary differences betwdle tax bases of assets and liabilities and thpwrted amounts in the financial statements
that will result in taxable or deductible amoumtduture years.

Management evaluates the available evidence abtureftaxable income and other possible sourcesatization of deferred tax asse
The valuation allowance reduces deferred tax agseis amount that represents management’s basagstof the amount of such deferred
tax assets that more likely than not will be readizSee Note 5 for additional details.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an maicetax position only if it is more likely tharohthat the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the tax authoritiesetdan the technical merits of the position. Tixebenefit is measured based on the largest
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihoodedfig realized upon ultimate settlement. The Companggnizes interest and penalties
related to income tax matters in income tax expeBse Note 5 for additional details.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensation ordemece with FASB ASC Topic 7180ompensation-Stock CompensatfthSC
718"). The Company estimates the fair value oflstations using the Black-Scholes option pricingdelo The fair value of stock options
granted is recognized as an expense over the regsisvice period. Stock-based compensation expemsall sharédased payment awards
recognized using the straight-line single-optiorthod.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requiresective assumptions, including future stock pricdatility and expected time to
exercise, which greatly affect the calculated valt&e expected term of options granted is derik@d historical data on employee exerci
and post-vesting employment termination behavibe fisk-free rate selected to value any particgtant is based on the U.S. Treasury rate
that corresponds to the expected life of the geffiective as of the date of the grant. The expecteatility is based on the historical volatility
of the Company’s stock price. These factors cohlhge in the future, affecting the determinatiostotk-based compensation expense in
future periods.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred antetb$99,670, $123,905 and $72,053 during the figeats ended September 30, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensedpeitiog incurred.

Leases

Leases are reviewed and classified as capital @atipg at their inception. For leases that contairt escalations, the Company records
the total rent payable on a straight-line basig ¢ive term of the lease. The difference betweehpaypments and straight-line rent expense is
recorded as deferred rent.

Segment Reporting

FASB ASC Topic 280Segment Reportingrequires the use of a management approach itifiglag segments of an enterprise. During
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, manadetatrmined that the Company has only one opegratgment: the development, sale
and service of proprietary software solutions egladb mobile imaging.
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Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and umeshiains and losses on available-for-sale segsiritihe following table summarizes
the components of comprehensive loss for the figeats ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $(5,291,86) $(7,275,70) $(7,839,99)
Other comprehensive los
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on marketable
securities (9,649 2,45¢ 9,23¢
Total comprehensive lo: $(5,301,51) $(7,273,25) $(7,830,75)

Included on the balance sheet at September 30,i8GMaccumulated other comprehensive loss ofl®7 @mpared to an accumulated
other comprehensive gain of $1,838 at Septembe2(IRB, related to the Company’s available-for-saeurities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance codified 82606 Revenue Recognition — Revenue from Contracts vastothergd“ASC
606"), which amends the guidance in former ASC &8yenue Recognitiorhis accounting standard update will be effectorethe
Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal80The Company is currently evaluating the impdi¢che provisions of ASC 606.

2. INVESTMENTS

The Company determines the appropriate designafiotvestments at the time of purchase and reetedusuch designation as of each
balance sheet date. All of the Company’s investsarg designated as available-for-sale debt semuris of September 30, 2014 and 2013,
the Company’s short-term investments have matdatgs of greater than 90 days and less than omdrgeathe balance sheet date. The
Company’s long-term investments have maturity daf@geater than one year from the balance sheet da

Available-for-sale marketable securities are cdreefair value as determined by quoted markeegrfor identical or similar assets,
with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, apdnted as a separate component of stockholdeugyetylanagement reviews the fair value
of the portfolio at least monthly, and evaluatedividual securities with fair value below amortizeokt at the balance sheet date. For debt
securities, in order to determine whether impairnieother-than-temporary, management must conchldsher the Company intends to sell
the impaired security and whether it is more likiglgn not that the Company will be required to 8wl security before recovering its
amortized cost basis. If management intends taaselinpaired debt security or it is more likelyrihzot the Company will be required to sell
the security prior to recovering its amortized duessis, an other-than-temporary impairment is deetméave occurred. The amount of an
other-than-temporary impairment related to a credi, or securities that management intends tde#dre recovery, is recognized in
earnings. The amount of an other-than-temporanaimpent on debt securities related to other fad®recorded consistent with changes in
the fair value of all other available-for-sale seties as a component of stockholders’ equity meotcomprehensive income. No other-than-
temporary impairment charges were recognized irfiscal years ended September 30, 2014, 2013 ah?l. 20

The cost of securities sold is based on the speadéntification method. Amortization of premiunagcretion of discounts, interest,
dividend income, and realized gains and lossemahaded in investment income.
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The following table summarizes investments by sgctype as of September 30, 2014 and 2013:

Available-for-sale securities
Corporate debt securities, st-term
Corporate debt securities, Ic-term

Total

Available-for-sale securities
Corporate debt securities, st-term
Corporate debt securities, Ic-term

Total

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosu

FASB ASC Topic 820Fair Value Measuremen{SASC 820") defines fair value, establishes a framework for sneiag fair value unds
GAAP and enhances disclosures about fair value uneaents. Fair value is defined under ASC 820 agfthange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a lighfin exit price) in the principal or most advaygaus market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantthermeasurement date. Valuation techniques usegésure fair value under ASC 820
must maximize the use of observable inputs andmii@ the use of unobservable inputs. ASC 820 dessm fair value hierarchy based on
three levels of inputs, of which the first two aensidered observable and the last unobservalalenthy be used to measure fair value which

consists of the following:

* Level }—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities;

» Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are obsdejadither directly or indirectly, such as quoteit@s for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are active; or other inputs that are observable ortmanorroborated by observable

September 30, 201

Gross Gross
Unrealizer Unrealize
Fair Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
$16,273,99 $ 1,472 $(6,29¢) $16,269,17
2,075,00: — (2,989 2,072,01!
$18,348,99 $ 1,47 $(9,287) $18,341,18
September 30, 201
Gross Gross
Unrealizer Unrealizes
Fair Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
$5,729,03. $ 2,37¢ $ (540 $5,730,87;
$5,729,03: $ 2,37¢ $ (540 $5,730,87.

market data for substantially the full term of Hesets or liabilities; ar

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportedttdy br no market activity and that are significémthe fair value of the assets

or liabilities.

Based on the fair value hierarchy, all of the Comyp@investments were classified as Level 2 at &aper 30, 2014 and 2013, as

represented in the following table:

Shor-term investments
Corporate debt securitis
Financial
Industrial
Utility
Commercial pape
Industrial
Financial

Total shor-term investment
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2014 2013
Long-term investments
Corporate debt securiti
Financial $1,564,50! $—
Utility 507,51 —
Total lon¢-term investment $2,072,01i $—

3. DEBT
Credit Facility

In January 2011, the Company entered into a lodrsaourity agreement with its primary operatingkb@he “Loan Agreement”). The
Loan Agreement permitted the Company to borrowayegnd re-borrow up to $400,000 from time to timélanuary 31, 2013, subject to
the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement. 0d@n Agreement expired on January 31, 2013, atlwtiine there were no borrowings
outstanding.

4, STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

In June 2013, the Company sold 2,857,142 shariégs cdmmon stock at a price of $5.25 per shareioraderwritten public offering
(the “Offering”) and received $13,877,447 in nedqeeds, after deducting underwriting discountsa@mdmissions and other offering
expenses of $1,122,549. Under the terms of therumidieg agreement for the Offering, the Compangrged the underwriter a 3By option
to purchase an additional 428,571 shares of itsommstock to cover overallotments. The underwetarcised its overallotment option
during June 2013 and the closing of the sale afeshaf the Company’s common stock pursuant to sption occurred during July 2013,
resulting in $2,127,350 in additional net procewdthe Company, after deducting other offering evges of $122,647.

Warrants

Historically, the Company has granted warrantsui@lpase its common stock to service providers anesitors. As of September 30,
2014, there were warrants to purchase 6,667 shathe Company’s common stock outstanding withxer@se price of $0.91 per share,
subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock divids and the like. These warrants expire in Dece2R.

In connection with the issuance of convertible aebiees in December 2009, the Company issued wartamgurchase an aggregate of
337,501 shares of the Company’s common stock witexarcise price of $0.91 per share. As of Septe®®e2014, warrants to purchase
330,834 shares of the Company’s common stock haee bxercised and warrants to purchase 6,667 sbfatemamon stock remain
outstanding. These warrants expire in December.2014

Stock-based Compensation
The Company applies the fair value recognition fgions of ASC 718.

The fair value of stock options granted to empleyaed directors is calculated using the Black-Sehoption pricing model. The Black-
Scholes option pricing model requires subjectiv@iagtions, including future stock price volatilapd expected time to exercise, which
greatly affect the calculated values. The expetdaud of options granted is derived from historidata on employee exercises and post-
vesting employment termination behavior. The risdefrate selected to value any particular grabased on the U.S. Treasury rate that
corresponds to the expected life of the grant &ffe@s of the date of the grant. The expectedtiitjas
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based on the historical volatility of the Companstsck price. These factors could change in theréytaffecting the determination of stock-
based compensation expense in future periods.

The value of stock-based compensation is baseleositigle option valuation approach under ASC 1li8.assumed no dividends will
be declared. The estimated fair value of stock-thasenpensation awards is amortized using the sitrdiige method over the vesting period
of the option.

ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated atithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsetjperiods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. The estimated avefadeiture rate for the fiscal year ended Septen®@r2014 of 13.4% for all stock option
grants was based on historical forfeiture expegenc

ASC 718 requires the cash flows from tax beneéailting from tax deductions in excess of the camp#on cost recognized for
options to be classified as financing cash flowse Bb the Company’s valuation allowance from lossdke previous years, there were no
such tax benefits during the fiscal years endedesaper 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

No stock options were granted to employees duhiediscal year ended September 30, 2014. The &hilevcalculations for stock-based
compensation awards to employees for the fiscakyeaded September 30, 2013 and 2012 were bagbe &vllowing assumptions:

2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 0.18%- 1.20% 0.35%- 1.06%
Expected life (years 5.3 5.0
Expected volatility 175% 110%
Expected dividend None None

The following table summarizes stobksed compensation expense related to stock optir@hRSUs under ASC 718 for the fiscal y¢
ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, whichalleated as follows:

2014 2013 2012

Sales and marketing $ 823,87¢ $ 433,13( $ 471,71¢

Research and developmt 675,03: 617,37 592,24¢

General and administratiy 1,945,57. 1,741,35! 1,535,89:
Stock-based compensation expense related to engpébdyek

options included in operating expen: $3,444,48 $2,791,86: $2,599,85!

The following table summarizes vested and unvespdidns, weighted average exercise price per sharighted average remaining
term and aggregate intrinsic value at Septembe? @D4:

Weighted Averag Weighted Averag
Exercise Price P Remaining Aggregate Intrinsi
Contractual Life
Number of Shar¢ Share (in Years) Value
Vested 1,878,69! $ 3.94 5.0C $ 1,090,09
Unvestec 455,63: $ 4.8C 7.3 8,08¢
Total 2,334,32i $ 4.11 5.4¢€ $ 1,098,18

The Company recognized $2,151,689, $2,023,023 210¥@®,786 in stock-based compensation expenseddiabutstanding stock
options in the fiscal years ended September 304,22013 and 2012, respectively. As of Septembe2B04, the Company had $1,659,197 of
unrecognized compensation expense related to adiatastock options expected to be recognized aweeighted average period of
approximately 1.58 years.
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The following table summarizes stock option acgivinder the Company’s stock option plans duringfigeal years ended
September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Weighted Averag Weighted Averag
Exercise Price P Remaining
Number of Contractual Tern
Shares Share (in Years)
Outstanding, September 30, 2011 4,553,90. $ 1.3¢4 6.15
Grantec 1,095,75! $ 8.5¢
Exercisec (1,812,21) $ 0.81
Cancellec (325,15) $ 6.41
Outstanding, September 30, 2( 3,512,28! $ 3.3¢ 6.4¢€
Grantec 651,56 $ 3.6%
Exercisec (1,103,58) $ 0.9C
Cancellec (235,309 $ 7.2¢€
Outstanding, September 30, 2( 2,824,96: $ 4.0¢ 7.2¢
Grantec — $ —
Exercisec (108,139 $ 1.27
Cancellec (382,509 $ 4.71
Outstanding, September 30, 2( 2,334,32 $ 411 5.4¢€

The following table summarizes significant rangésustanding and exercisable options as of Septei3d, 2014:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Exercise Price «
Number of Contractual Lifi Weighted Number of Number of
Range of Options Average Exercisable Exercisable Unvested
Exercise Price Qutstanding (in Years) Exercise Pric Options Options Options
$0.09 to $0.79 336,76: 5.24 $ 0.75 336,76: $ 0.7% —
$0.80 to $1.1( 350,00( 1.3¢ $ 0.9 350,00( $ 0.9z —
$2.34 to $2.6( 726,42: 6.6( $ 2.52 491,67 $ 2.54 234,75(
$3.33 t0 $9.9° 635,00( 5.74 $ 6.3< 501,02: $ 6.74 133,97
$11.05 to $11.6: 286,14 7.1¢ $ 11.0¢ 199,23¢ $ 11.0¢ 86,90
2,334,32i 5.4¢ $ 4.11 1,878,69! $ 3.94 455,63.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgrthe fiscal years ended September 30, 2014, 20d2012 was $472,327, $3,832,.
and $14,215,750, respectively. The per-share weibaterage fair value of options granted durinditgeal years ended September 30, 2013
and 2012 was $3.57 and $5.97, respectively. Ndksiptions were granted to employees during thafigear ended September 30, 2014.

2012 Incentive Plan

In January 2012, the Company’s board of directdopted the Mitek Systems, Inc. 2012 Incentive Rihe “2012 Plan”), upon the
recommendation of the compensation committee obtiaed of directors. The 2012 Plan was approveth®yCompany’s stockholders on
February 22, 2012. On February 19, 2014, the Cogipatockholders approved an amendment to the Pldr2 that increased the total
number of shares of the Company’s common stockveddor issuance thereunder from 2,000,000 sharé£00,000 shares, plus that
number of shares of the Company’s common stockwbatd otherwise return to the available pool oifssned shares reserved for awards
under the Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan, 2008KSDption Plan, 2002 Stock Option Plan, 2006 Stopkion Plan and 2010 Stock
Option Plan (collectively, the “Prior Plans”). Tleewere
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no awards granted under the Prior Plans aftergpeoaal of the 2012 Plan by the Company’s stockédan February 22, 2012. Stock
options granted under the Prior Plans that werstanding at such date remain in effect until symivos are exercised or expire.

The 2012 Plan authorizes the grant of stock optistogk appreciation rights, restricted stock, R@bd cash awards. Stock options
granted under the 2012 Plan may be either optiaeaded to constitute incentive stock options arqualified stock options, in each case as
determined by the compensation committee of thedbobdirectors in accordance with the terms of2B&2 Plan. As of September 30, 2014,
stock options to purchase 843,743 shares of thep@oys common stock and 536,303 RSUs were outsigndider the 2012 Plan, and
2,776,678 shares of the Company’s common stock vesezved for future grants.

The following table summarizes the number of stoptons outstanding under the Prior Plans as ofe®aper 30, 2014:

2000 Stock Option Pla 206,26:
2002 Stock Option Pla 191,00(
2006 Stock Option Pla 43,00(
2010 Stock Option Pla 1,050,32
Total stock options outstanding under the Prion® 1,490,58.

Restricted Stock Units

In January 2011, the Company’s board of directdopged, subject to stockholder approval, the M#gktems, Inc. Director Restricted
Stock Unit Plan, as amended and restated (the ¢@iré’lan”), reserving up to 1,000,000 shares ef@ompany’s common stock for the
issuance of RSUs to both employee and non-emplayrebers of the board of directors of the CompamyF€bruary 23, 2011, the Director
Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholdets ahnual meeting.

In addition, the Company has awarded RSUs to ceofits employees under the 2012 Plan. The RS¥sineequal annual installments
over four years.

The following table summarizes RSU activity in fiseal years ended September 30, 2014, 2013 anzt 201

Number of Weightedaverage¢

shares fair value per sha
Outstanding at September 30, 2011 300,00( $ 5.12
Grantec 255,83! $ 8.44
Settled — —
Cancellec (40,009 11.0¢
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 515,83 $ 6.3C
Grantec 255,00( $ 3.1
Settled (50,829 7.7€
Cancellec (27,50) $ 11.0¢
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 692,50: $ 4.8t
Grantec 625,13¢ $ 4.8:
Settled (63,339 $ 4.6€
Cancellec (153,000 $ 5.0
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 1,101,30:. $ 4.71
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The cost of a RSU is determined using the fair @alfithe Company’s common stock on the award daie the compensation expense
is recognized ratably over the vesting period. Toenpany recognized $1,292,791, $768,839 and $52%05tock-based compensation
expense related to outstanding RSUs in the fiseats/ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and 201 2¢ctieshe As of September 30, 2014, 1
Company had approximately $3,219,521 of unrecoghizenpensation expense related to outstanding R$pkxcted to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 2.93 years

5. INCOME TAXES
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014, 20d2012 the income tax provision (benefit) waflisws:

2014 2013 2012
Federal—current $ — $ — $(4,80¢)
State—current 2,22¢ 1,07¢ 80C
Total $2,22¢ $1,07¢ $(4,009)

Significant components of the Company’s net detbtax assets and liabilities as of September 304 2d 2013 are as follows:

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets (liabilities
Net operating loss carryforwar $11,401,48 $10,473,90
Capitalized research and development ¢ — 134,55(
Stock based compensati 1,228,08; 408,58
AMT credit carryforward: 66,32( 66,32(
Other 250,99¢ 186,21.
Research credit carryforwar 43,80: 43,80:
Total deferred asse 12,990,68 11,313,37
Valuation allowance for net deferred tax as: (12,990,68) (11,313,37)
Total $ — $ —

The Company has provided a valuation allowancenatjdieferred tax assets recorded as of Septemb2088 and 2013 due to
uncertainties regarding the realization of sucletsss

The net change in the total valuation allowanceHerfiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and®a&%n increase of $1,677,309
and $1,968,988, respectively. In assessing thezatdlity of deferred tax assets, the Company atersi whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assetswatlbe realized. The ultimate realization of defdrtax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during perimdshich those temporary differences become debligctThe Company considers projec
future taxable income and planning strategies ikinggthis assessment. Based on the level of histboiperating results and projections for
future taxable income, the Company has determinaiiittis more likely than not that the deferrexl aasets will not be realized. Accordingly,
the Company has recorded a valuation allowancedoae deferred tax assets to zero. There can hssopance that the Company will ever
be able to realize the benefit of some or all efféderal and state loss carryforwards or the tozdiyforwards, either due to ongoing
operating losses or due to ownership changes, Winiitthe usefulness of the loss carryforwards.

As of September 30, 2014, the Company has avaiteileperating loss carryforwards of $47,885,58%dderal income tax purposes,
which will start to expire in 2018. The net opengtioss carryforwards for state

F-20



Table of Contents

purposes are $37,399,784 and will begin to expi20il4. Included in these amounts are federal tate Bet operating losses of $17,654,877
attributable to stock option deductions of which thx benefit will be credited to equity when readl. As of September 30, 2014, the
Company has available federal research and developenedit carryforwards of $29,306 and alternatirimum tax credit carryforwards of
$66,320. The research and development creditstailt to expire in 2023. As of September 30, 2@id Company has available California
research and development credit carryforwards @f33 which do not expire.

The Company'’s ability to use its net operating kasd research and development credit carryforwaas be substantially limited due
to ownership change limitations that may have aeclior that could occur in the future, as requibg®ection 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 382"), as veetlimilar state provisions. The Company has notptetad a study to assess whether an
ownership change has occurred or whether there e multiple ownership changes since the Compangme a “loss corporation” as
defined in Section 382. Due to the existence ofvtilaation allowance, it is not expected that aoggible limitation will have an impact on
the results of operations or financial positiorthef Company.

The difference between the income tax provisioméfi) and income taxes computed using the U.Srddncome tax rate was as
follows for the years ended September 30, 20143 201 2012:

2014 2013 2012
Amount computed using statutory rate $(1,798,47) $(2,473,37) $(2,666,96)
Net change in valuation allowance for net defeteedasset 1,677,300 1,968,98 2,247,61!
Non-deductible item: 411,47: 548,83¢ 807,53:
State income ta (288,07) (43,376) (392,19)
Income tax provision (benefi $ 2,22¢ $ 1,07¢ $ (4,009

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictioBecause the Company is carrying
forward federal and state net operating losses &687Y and 2002, respectively, the Company is stibjed.S. federal and state income tax
examinations by tax authorities for all years sih®87 and 2002, as the case may be. The Compasyndb&ave any uncertain tax positions.
As of September 30, 2014, no accrued interest oalpes are recorded in the financial statements.

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Matters
USAA

On March 29, 2012, United Services Automobile Asstian (“USAA”) filed a complaint in the U.S. Distt Court for the Western
District of Texas San Antonio Division against thempany seeking, among other things, a declarfadigment that USAA does not infring
certain of the Company’s patents relating to MoBigposit® , and that such patents are not enforeemainst USAA. In addition, USAA
alleged that it disclosed confidential informatiorthe Company and that the Company used suchiafiion in its patents and Mobile
Deposit® product in an unspecified manner. USAA $éburmages and injunctive relief. USAA subsequeathended its pleadings to assert
a claim for false advertising and reverse palmifiginder the Lanham Act, and to seek reimburseroader the parties’ license agreement.

On April 12, 2012, the Company filed a lawsuit agaiUSAA in the U.S. District Court for the Distriof Delaware, alleging that USA
infringed five of the Company’s patents relatingrttage capture on mobile devices, breached théepalitense agreement by using the
Company’s products beyond the scope of the agrped-license terms and breached the parties’ licagssement by disclosing confidential
pricing and other confidential information for tB@mpany’s legacy product installation in the law&iSAA filed in Texas.
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The courts consolidated the foregoing cases ittBe District Court for the Western District of Teesx and on November 19, 2012, the
Company answered USAA’s various claims and coulaiens, moved to dismiss USAA’s Lanham Act causacifon and filed a
counterclaim against USAA for violation of the Lamh Act. On February 15, 2013, the Court grantedCti@pany’s motion and dismissed
USAA'’s Lanham Act claim and on July 29, 2014, theu@ dismissed the Company’s infringement claimairgt USAA. On September 3,
2014, the Company and USAA agreed to settle aldlimgnclaims as follows: (i) USAA moved to dismidkdd its remaining claims, includin
its claims for misappropriation of trade secretegch of contract, fraud, inequitable conduct, iandlidity of the Company’s patents; (ii) the
Company moved to dismiss all remaining claims,udglg the Company’s claims for trade defamation énthtions of the Lanham Act. The
Company agreed not to sue USAA for patent infringetfor products currently sold, marketed, or atised by USAA, including its
Deposit@Mobile application. Neither the Company &AA admitted any liability on any claim, nor déither party make any payment to
the other. USAA has retained its license to useChimpany’s Quick Strokes, Quick FX Pro, and Imager8 software products.

Top Image Systems Ltd.

On September 26, 2012, the Company filed a lavegydtnst Israeli-based Top Image Systems Ltd. aBdARherica Inc. (collectively,
“TISA”) in the U.S. District Court for the Distriaif Delaware, alleging that TISA infringes five thie Company’s patents relating to image
capture on mobile devices. The Company is seekangagies against TISA and injunctive relief to prextkeam from selling their mobile
imaging products.

On January 7, 2013, TISA answered the Company’sptaint by denying the allegations and raising selaffirmative defenses. On
January 11, 2013, the Company amended its comptaadd its sixth patent, which had recently besnéd and also relates to image capture
on mobile devices. On January 28, 2013, TISA redpdro the Company’s amended complaint by agaigidgithe allegations and raising
the same affirmative defenses that they raisedaim answer to the Company’s initial complaint.

On September 8, 2014, the Company agreed to a#itjending litigation with TISA, because the costitigating the case would have
been higher than any potential benefit to the CampRursuant to the settlement, the Company digdia#l claims against TISA and retail
the right to pursue legal action in the future.

Rothschild Mobile Imaging Innovations, Inc.

On May 16, 2014, Rothschild Mobile Imaging Innoweas, Inc. (“RMII”) filed a complaint against the @pany in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware alleging thatteén of the Company’s mobile imaging productsiimje four RMIl-owned patents related to
mobile imaging technology. On June 1, 2014, RMIkeaed its complaint to add JPMorgan Chase & CoJ&Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
(together, “Chase”), one of the Company’s custorresssa defendant in the lawsuit (as amended, thigdllLawsuit”). On September 8, 201
RMII filed three additional complaints (the “Subseqt Lawsuits” and together with the Initial Lawtstine “RMII Lawsuits”) against the
Company in the U.S. District Court for the DistriftDelaware. The Subsequent Lawsuits contain afiegs substantially similar to the Init
Lawsuit regarding infringement by the Company’s it®lmaging products of the four RMII-owned paterdfated to mobile imaging
technology, but name as co-defendants Citibank, NCAigroup Inc., Wells Fargo & Company, Wells §amBank, N.A., Bank of America
Corporation and Bank of America, N.A., respectivighgether with Chase, the “Bank Defendants”), eafolvthom offers the Company’s
mobile imaging technology as part of its mobile king applications.

The Company has filed motions to dismiss RMII'slfullinfringement claims against the Company in thigial Lawsuit and motions to
dismiss claims against the Company in the Subseduevsuits. On November 10, 2014, the Company fdedotion to sever and stay the
claims against Chase in the Initial Lawsuit pendiegplution of RMII's claims against the Companyl an transfer the claims against the
Company to the
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Southern District of California. On November 19120the Company filed joinders to the motion toystéth respect to the Subsequent
Lawsuits. All motions are still pending before theurt.

Based on the Company’s current understanding ofltims, the Company has agreed to accept the disrianindemnity and defense
tendered by three of the Bank Defendants in coioreetith their respective RMII Lawsuits. The Compas currently controlling the defen
of such claims and has taken actions to defen® Mg Lawsuits, as more fully described above. Ttarpany believes that RMII's claims
are without merit and intends to vigorously defagainst those claims. The Company does not befieatahe results of the RMII Lawsuits
will have a material adverse effect on its finahc@ndition or results of operations.

Other Legal Matters

In addition to the foregoing, the Company is subfeaarious claims and legal proceedings arismthée ordinary course of its business.
While any legal proceeding has an element of uagdsyt, the Company believes that the dispositioaunth matters, in the aggregate, will not
have a material effect on the Company’s finanadaldition or results of operations.

Employee 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan that allows partizigeemployees to contribute a percentage of sadary, subject to Internal Rever
Service annual limits. During the fiscal years eh@eptember 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Comparnyadimatch contributions to the plan.

Facility Lease

The Company’s principal executive offices, as wsllits research and development facility, are &mtat approximately 22,523 square
feet of office space in San Diego, California. Teen of the lease for the Compasyffices continues through June 30, 2019. The @rras
rent under the lease is approximately $471,00@gar and is subject to annual increases of appiateiyn 3% per year. In connection with
lease, the Company received tenant improvemenwalioes totaling $675,690. These lease incentivebeing amortized as a reduction of
rent expense over the term of the lease. As ofeBaper 30, 2014, the unamortized balance of the liegentives was $498,297, of which
$104,905 has been included in other current ligdsliand $393,392 has been included in other nomiguliabilities. Under the terms of the
lease, the Company issued a standby letter oftdeethe landlord that allows for one or more draksip to $210,000 over the term of the
lease. The Company believes its existing propeatiesn good condition and are sufficient and slédior the conduct of its business.

Future annual minimum rental payments payable utidelease are as follows:

Years ending September {

2015 $ 495,98
2016 510,86:
2017 526,18’
2018 541,97
2019 416,95¢
Thereaftel —

Total $2,491,96!

Rent expense for the Company’s operating leasisféacility for the years ended September 30, 2@D43 and 2012 totaled $368,385,
$379,529 and $335,946, respectively.
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7. REVENUE AND VENDOR CONCENTRATIONS
Revenue Concentration

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, timep@ny derived revenue of $5,668,973, or 30% ofbmpanys total revenue, fro
one customer, compared to revenue of $3,607,4124%r of the Company’s total revenue, from one austofor the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2013. For the fiscal year ended Béyete30, 2012, the Company derived revenue of $3788 from three customers, with
such customers accounting for 15%, 15% and 12%euotisely, of the Company'’s total revenue. The esponding accounts receivable
balances of customers from which revenues wergdass of 10% of total revenue were $1,431,163, $588and $675,074 at September 30,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company’s revenue is derived primarily from shé by the Company to channel partners, inclugystems integrators and
resellers, and end-users of licenses to sell ptedivered by the Company’s patented technoloffiasost cases, the channel partners
purchase the license from the Company after thegive an order from an end-user. The channel parteeeive orders from various
individual end-users; therefore, the sale of anlsgeto a channel partner may represent sales tgplawdnd-users. End-users can purchase the
Company’s products through more than one channeigra

Revenues can fluctuate based on the timing of $ieeanewals by channel partners. When a chanrtelepgnurchases or renews a
license, the Company receives a license fee inidersion for the grant of a license to sell thex(Pany’s products and there are no future
payment obligations related to such agreementetbes, the license fee the Company receives wiheaet to a particular license renewal in
one period does not have a correlation with revémdigture periods. During the last few years, salklicenses to one or more channel
partners have comprised a significant part of the@any’s revenue. This is attributable to the tgniri renewals or purchases of licenses and
does not represent a dependence on any singleahzamner. The Company believes that it is noedejent upon any single channel partner,
even those from which revenues were in excess%f dithe Company’s total revenue in a specific répg period, and that the loss or
termination of the Company’s relationship with augh channel partner would not have a materialradveffect on the Company’s future
operations because either the Company or anotla@neih partner could sell the Company’s productbécend-user that had purchased from
the channel partner the Company lost.

International sales accounted for approximately 3%,and 5% of the Company'’s total revenue for theaf years ended September 30,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Compang &elproducts in U.S. currency only.

Vendor Concentration

The Company purchases its integrated software coeme from multiple third-party software providetscompetitive prices. For the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2014, 2013 an2, 204 Company did not make purchases from anywendor comprising 10% or more of
the Company’s total purchases. The Company haseehitgto contractual relationships with some of/gésdors; however, the Company does
not believe it is substantially dependent uponexquosed to any significant concentration risk edab purchases from any of its vendors,
given the availability of alternative sources fsrinecessary integrated software components.
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Exhibit 3.1

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.

It is hereby certified that:

FIRST: The present name of the corporation (therp@mtion”) is Mitek Systems, Inc. The name undéick the Corporation was
originally incorporated is Mitek Systems of Delawalnc.; and the date of filing the original Cad#te of Incorporation of the Corporation
with the Secretary of State of the State of DelawaiMay 29, 1986.

SECOND: The provisions of the Certificate of Incorgtion of the Corporation as heretofore amendedoarsupplemented are hereby
restated and integrated into the single instrumadmith is hereinafter set forth, and which is eatitRestated Certificate of Incorporation of
Mitek Systems, Inc., without further amendment aiitthout any discrepancy between the provisiondefCGertificate of Incorporation of the
Corporation as heretofore amended and supplemantkthe provisions of the said single instrumentinafter set forth.

THIRD: The Board of Directors of the Corporatiorsituly adopted this Restated Certificate of Incoaipon of the Corporation
pursuant to the provisions of Section 245 of the&sal Corporation Law of the State of Delawarenim form set forth as follows:

“RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.

1. The name of the corporation (the “Corporatida”Mitek Systems, Inc.

2. The address of its registered office in theeStditDelaware is Corporation Trust Center, 1209nQeaStreet, in the City of
Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of égistered agent at such address is The Corporaticst Company.

3. The nature of the business or purposes to bauoted or promoted is to engage in any lawful a@abivity for which corporations
may be organized under the General Corporation dfaidelaware.

4. The total number of shares of all classes afkstehich the Corporation shall have authority &uis is Forty-one Million
(41,000,000) shares consisting of One million (0,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par yaduehare (the “Preferred Stock”), and
Forty million (40,000,000) shares of Common Stc&k001 par value per share (“Common Stoc”).



The designation of, the number of shares constguand the rights, preferences, privileges andicésns relating to the initial
series of Preferred Stock are as follows:

A. Designations The initial series of Preferred Stock shall bseigleated “Class A Preferred Stock.”

B. Number of SharesThe number of shares constituting the Class Aeledd Stock shall be 327,025 shares.

C. Dividend Provisions The holders of the Class A Preferred Stock dfekntitled to share in all cash dividends and cash
distributions declared on or with respect to thenGwn Stock on a basis that assumes that all shathe Preferred Stock have been
converted into Common Stock at the then effectivev@rsion Rate (as defined in Section 4(E)(iii)).

D. Liquidation Preference

(i) In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionwinding up of the Corporation, either voluntaryimvoluntary, the holders
of Class A Preferred Stock shall be entitled tenes, prior and in preference to any distributidraoy of the assets of the Corporation to the
holders of Common Stock or other classes of prefestock by reason of their ownership thereof,raount per share equal to the sum of
$4.60 for each outstanding share of Class A PrfeBtock. If upon the occurrence of such eventatisets and funds thus distributed among
the holders of the Class A Preferred Stock shaihbefficient to permit the payment to such holdefrthe full preferential amounts, then the
entire assets and funds of the Corporation legalgilable for distribution shall be distributedatalty among the holders of the Class A
Preferred Stock in proportion to the amount of sstoitk owned by each such holder.

(i) After the distribution described in subsecti@nabove has been paid, the holders of Commook3tball be entitled to
receive out of the remaining assets of the Corgmratvailable for distribution to shareholders,aamount per share equal to the sum of $0.46
for each outstanding share of Common Stock, astatjfor any stock splits, dividends or combinatidhthe assets and funds thus
distributed among the holders of Common Stock dlelhsufficient to permit the payment to such leoddof the full amounts so specified,
then those assets and funds of the Corporatioiyemailable for distribution, after the distribah specified in subsection (i) above, shall be
distributed ratably among the holders of the Com@tmtk in proportion to the amount of such stockedby each such holder.

(iii) After the distributions described in subsects (i) and (ii) above have been paid, the remgiassets of the Corporati
available for distribution to shareholders shalbisributed among the holders of Class A Prefe8txtk and Common Stock pro rata based
on the number of shares of Common Stock held bly éessuming conversion of all such Class A PrefeB®ck at the then effective
Conversion Rate).

(iv) A consolidation or merger of the Corporatioittwor into any other corporation or corporatioosa sale, conveyance
disposition of all or substantially all of the atssef the Corporation or the effectuation by theg@oation of a transaction or series of related
transactions in which more than 50% of the votiog/@r of the Corporation |



disposed of or transferred to one person or gréygeisons acting in concert, shall not be deemdzita liquidation, dissolution or winding
within the meaning of this Section 4(D), but sliagttead be treated pursuant to Section 4(F) hereof.

E. Conversion The holders of the Class A Preferred Stock dieale conversion rights as follows (the “Converdiights”):

() Right to Convert Each share of Class A Preferred Stock shall bgartible, at the option of the holder thereofaay
time after the date of issuance of such sharégeapffice of this Corporation or any transfer agentthe Class A Preferred Stock, into fully
paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stook @btiwversion Rate in effect at the time of conwersiletermined as hereinafter provided
and upon the terms hereinafter set forth.

(i) Mechanics of ConversionBefore any holder of Class A Preferred Stockldtmkntitled to convert shares of Class A
Preferred into shares of Common Stock, he/she shatknder the certificate or certificates therefluly endorsed, at the office of this
Corporation or of any transfer agent for the Clag&referred Stock, and shall give written noticenigil, postage prepaid, to this Corporation
at its principal corporate office, of the electimnconvert the same and shall state therein theermmames in which the certificate or
certificates for shares of Common Stock are tesbadd. The Corporation shall, as soon as practithbteafter, issue and deliver at such
office to such holder of Class A Preferred Stoekoathe nominee or nominees of such holder, dficatte or certificates for the number of
shares of Common Stock to which such holder sleaértitled as aforesaid. Such conversion shalleleengd to have been made immediately
prior to the close of business on the date of suctender of the shares of the Class A PreferreckSb be converted, and the person or
persons entitled to receive the shares of CommockS$suable upon such conversion shall be trfateall purposes as the record holder or
holders of such shares of Common Stock as of sath tf the conversion is in connection with anemditten offer of securities registered
pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, the corigarmay, at the option of any holder tendering €lasreferred Stock for conversion, be
conditioned upon the closing with the underwritethe sale of securities pursuant to such offeringyhich event the person(s) entitled to
receive the Common Stock issuable upon such coioven$ the Class A Preferred Stock shall not berteseto have converted such Class A
Preferred Stock until immediately prior to the @hggof such sale of securities.

(iif) Conversion Rate Each holder of the Class A Preferred Stock diabntitled to convert such shares of Class A
Preferred Stock into the number of shares of Com8tounk which result from multiplying the numbersbfares of Class A Preferred Stock so
held by the Conversion Rate. The initial Converdiate shall be ten, and such Conversion Rate Isdallibject to adjustment as provided
herein.

(iv) Adjustments for Subdivisions or Dividendk the event the Corporation should at any tim&am time to time after
the Original Issue Date fix a record date for tfieatuation of a split or subdivision of the outstiitng shares of Common Stock or the
determination of holders of Common Stock entitiedeceive a dividend or other distribution payahladditional shares of Common Stocl
other securities or rights convertible into,




entitling the holder thereof to receive directlyindirectly, additional shares of Common Stock @ieafter referred to as “Common Stock
Equivalents”) without payment of any consideratignsuch holder for the additional shares of Comi&ttk or the Common Stock
Equivalents (including the additional shares of @Guoin Stock issuable upon conversion or exercisedfigrthen, as of such record date (or
the date of such dividend distribution, split obdivision if no record date is fixed), the ConversRate of the Class A Preferred Stock shall
be appropriately increased so that the numberareshof Common Stock issuable on conversion of shale of such series shall be incre.
in proportion to such increase of outstanding shage that on a fully converted basis of all outdiag shares of the Corporation, the
percentage of the total outstanding shares hettiéofolders of the Preferred Stock after the subidiv, combination or other reclassification
is the same as the percentage of outstanding sheltby the holders of the Preferred Stock pcsuch event. If the number of shares of
Common Stock outstanding at any time after thei@aigssue Date is decreased by a combinationebtlistanding shares of Common
Stock, then, following the record date of such comation, the Conversion Rate for the Class A Prefé6tock shall be appropriately
decreased so that the number of shares of Comnoek Bsuable on conversion of each share of suissghall be decreased in proportion
to such decrease in outstanding shares.

(v) Other Distributions Except to the extent a distribution has causeadfmstment to the Conversion Rate pursuant to
other provisions of this Section 4(E), in the evitiet Corporation shall declare a distribution pagai securities of other persons, evidences
of indebtedness issued by the Corporation or qitbesons, assets (excluding cash dividends) ormgpbo rights, then, in each such case for
the purpose of this subsection, the holders oflass A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to a priignate share of any such distribution as
though they were the holders of the number of shaf€ommon Stock of the Corporation into whichitlsbares of Class A Preferred Stock
are convertible as of the record date fixed fordbgrmination of the holders of Common Stock ef @orporation entitled to receive such
distribution.

(vi) RecapitalizationsIf at any time or from time to time there shadl & recapitalization of the Common Stock (othentha
a subdivision, combination or merger or sale oétsansaction provided for elsewhere herein) ipron shall be made so that the holders of
the Class A Preferred Stock shall thereafter bigleshto receive upon conversion of the Class Aidtred Stock the number of shares of stock
or other securities or property of the Corporatiotherwise, to which a holder of Common Stockwdehble upon conversion would have
been entitled on such recapitalization. In any stade, appropriate adjustment shall be made iaghbcation of the provisions of this
Section 4(E) with respect to the rights of the leoddof the Class A Preferred Stock after the reéakation to the end that the provisions of
this Section 4(E) (including adjustment of the Cersion Rate then in effect and the number of shaweshasable upon conversion of the
Class A Preferred Stock) shall be applicable dftat event as nearly equivalent as may be pradticab

(vii) No Impairment Except as otherwise provided in Section 4(Hhif Certificate, the Corporation will not, by
amendment of its Certificate of Incorporation aotigh any reorganization, recapitalization, transfeassets, consolidation, merger,
dissolution, issue or sale of securities or angotioluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid



observance or performance of any of the terms tobiserved or performed hereunder by the Corporationwill at all times in good faith
assist in the carrying out of all the provisionséumder and in the taking of all such action as bwyecessary or appropriate in order to
protect the Conversion Rights of the holders ofGless A Preferred Stock against impairment.

(viii) No Fractional Shares and Certificate ag\tijustments

(a) No fractional shares shall be issued upon asime of the Class A Preferred Stock, and the nurabshares of
Common Stock to be issued shall be rounded togkelarger whole share.

(b) Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or ustaiient of the Conversion Rate of Class A Prefestedk
pursuant to this Section 4(E), the Corporatioritsatxpense, shall promptly compute such adjustmergadjustment in accordance with the
terms hereof and prepare and furnish to each holdélass A Preferred Stock a certificate settimghf such adjustment or readjustment and
showing in detail the facts upon which such adjesthor readjustment is based. The Corporation,sinadin the written request at any time of
any holder of Class A Preferred Stock and uporstimeender of the certificate representing outstagnghare of Class A Preferred Stock held
by the holder, furnish or cause to be furnishesutch holder a like certificate setting forth (Axhuadjustment and readjustment, (B) the
Conversion Rate at the time in effect, and (C)rthmber of shares of Common Stock which at the tiroeld be received upon the convers
of a share of Class A Preferred Stock.

(iX) Notices of Record Dateln the event of any taking by the Corporatiomaécord of the holders of any class of
securities for the purpose of determining the haldieereof who are entitled to receive any dividéttier than a cash dividend) or other
distribution, any right to subscribe for, purchas®therwise acquire any shares of stock of angsata any other securities or property, or to
receive any other right, the Corporation shall nmiach holder of Class A Preferred Stock, at [2aglays prior to the date specified therein,
a notice specifying the date on which any suchneoto be taken for the purpose of such dividetistribution or right, and the amount and
character of such dividend, distribution or right.

(x) Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversidhe Corporation shall at all times reserve areplkavailable out of its
authorized but unissued shares of Common Stockydolethe purpose of effecting the conversiontad shares of the Class A Preferred S
such number of its shares of Common Stock as &batl time to time be sufficient to effect the corsien of all outstanding shares of the
Class A Preferred Stock; and if at any time the lpeinof authorized but unissued shares of CommockS&tieall not be sufficient to effect the
conversion of all then outstanding shares of tres€A Preferred Stock, in addition to such othereies as shall be available to the hold:
such Class A Preferred Stock, this Corporation taltfe such corporate action as may, in the opiofdts counsel, be necessary to increase its
authorized but unissued shares of Common Stockdio sumber of shares as shall be sufficient foh qurposes




(xi) Notices. Any notice required by the provisions of this @t 4(E) to be given to the holders of shareslab€ A
Preferred Stock shall be deemed given if depogitéide United States mail, postage prepaid, andesgddd to each holder of record at his/her
address appearing on the books of this Corporation.

F. Merger, Consolidation

(i) Effect on SharesAt any time, in the event of any consolidatiomwerger of the Corporation with or into any other
corporation or other entity or person, or any ott@porate reorganization in which the Corporasball not be the continuing or surviving
entity of such consolidation, merger or reorgamigathe holders of the Class A Preferred Stocklskakive for each share of such stock in
cash or in securities received from the acquiriegpBration, or in a combination thereof, at thesirig of any such transaction, an amount
equal to the amount of cash and/or securities wihietholder would have received had he/she cornéneClass A Preferred Stock into
Common Stock immediately prior to such transaction.

(i) Notice. The Corporation shall give each holder of reatfr@lass A Preferred Stock written notice of sutipénding
transaction not later than twenty (20) days prothie shareholdersheeting called to approve such transaction, or ty20) days prior to tt
closing of such transaction, whichever is earberd shall also notify such holders in writing oé ttnal approval of such transaction. The first
of such notices shall describe the material temascanditions of the impending transaction andptovisions of this Section 4(F), and the
Corporation shall thereafter give such holders gronotice of any material changes. The transadi@il in no event take place sooner than
twenty (20) days after the Corporation has givenfittst notice provided for herein or sooner tham ¢10) days after the Corporation has g
notice of any material changes provided for hengfoyided, however, that such periods may be shed@pon the written consent of the
holders of two-thirds of the shares of Class A &mefd Stock then outstanding.

(i) Cumulative Effect The provisions of this Section 4(F) are in adulitfo the protective provisions of Section 4

(H) hereof.

G. Voting Rights Except as otherwise expressly provided hereiegjfipally including, but not limited to the proviss of
Section 4(H) hereof) or as required by law, thalbobf each share of Class A Preferred Stock Sleadintitled to vote on all matters and shall
be entitled to the number of votes equal to thgdsir number of shares of Common Stock into whicih shhares of Class A Preferred Stock
could be converted, pursuant to the provisionseafiSn 4(E) hereof, at the record date for therd@teation of the shareholders entitled to
vote on such matters or, if no such record dag¢stablished, at the date such vote is taken onaittgn consent of shareholders is solicited.
Except as otherwise expressly provided for hereimsaequired by law, the holders of shares of Chafreferred Stock and Common Stock
shall vote together and not as separate cla



H. Protective ProvisionsSo long as shares of Class A Preferred Stockwstanding, this Corporation shall not withousffir
obtaining the approval (by vote or written consastprovided by law) of the holders of at least-thieds of the shares of Class A Preferred
Stock then outstanding:

(i) alter or change the rights, preferences orileges of the shares of such series of Preferreck&o as to affect advers:
the shares; or

(i) reduce the number of authorized shares oPtrederred Stock below the number of shares thestanding or increase
the number of shares of the Class A Preferred Stwrck

(iii) create any new class or series of stock &yihg a preference over or being on parity withhsseries of Class A
Preferred Stock with respect to dividends or upguidation, or (ii) having rights similar to any tife rights of such series of Class A
Preferred Stock under this Section 4(H); or

(iv) effect any consolidation or merger of the Ganation with or into any other corporation or otleatity or person, or any
other corporate reorganization or any transactiosedes of related transactions by the Corporatiomhich in excess of 50% of the
Corporation’s voting power is transferred to a &ngerson or group of persons acting in concert; or

(v) effect the sale of all or substantially alltbé assets of this Corporation; or

(vi) do any act or thing which would result in téixa of the holders of shares of Class A PrefeBaatk under Section 305
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amendeahfpcomparable provision of the Internal Reve@ode as hereafter from time to time
amended).

I. Status of Converted Stockn the event any share of Class A Preferred S¢beld be converted pursuant to Section 4(E) hereof
the shares so converted shall be cancelled andrgtidde issuable by the Corporation, and the @eate of Incorporation of this Corporation
shall be appropriately amended to effect the cpmeding reduction in the Corporation’s authorizagital stock.

5. The Corporation is to have perpetual existence.

6. In furtherance and not in limitation of the paseonferred by statute, the board of directoexessly authorized to make, alter or
repeal the by-laws of the Corporation.

7. Elections of directors need not be by writtelidbainless the by-laws of the Corporation shalpsovide.

Meetings of stockholders may be held within or withthe State of Delaware, as thelbys may provide. The books of the Corpora
may be kept (subject to any provision containetthéstatutes) outside the State of Delaware at glade or places as may be designated
time to time by the board of directors or in the-laws of the Corporatior



8. The Corporation reserves the right to amendr,athange or repeal any provision contained mdhitificate of incorporation, in the
manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute ainajhts conferred upon stockholders herein aemigd subject to this reservation.

9. The personal liability of the directors of ther@oration is hereby eliminated to the fullest exfgermitted by paragraph (7) of
subsection (b) of Section 102 of the General Catfpam Law of the State of Delaware, as the samelmeagmended and supplemented.”

Signed on November 14, 2011
MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.
By: /s/ James B. DeBello

Name: James B. DeBell
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic




CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF
RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.

M ITEK SYSTEMS, | NC., a Delaware corporation (tH€orporation” ), does hereby certify that:
F IrRsT: The name of the CorporationNé ITEK SYSTEMS, | NC.

SEconD : The original Certificate of Incorporation of the iporation was filed with the Secretary of Stateéhaf State of Delaware on
May 29, 1986.

T HIRD : The Corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorpiorawas filed with the Secretary of State of thet& of Delaware on
November 14, 2011 (tt*Restated Certificate of Incorporation” ).

F ourTH : The Board of Directors of the Corporation (tB®ard” ), acting in accordance with the provisions of Seciddl and 242
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaw#hre"DGCL” ), adopted resolutions amending the Restated @ettfof Incorporation
as follows:

1. The first sentence of the fourth paragraph efRlestated Certificate of Incorporation is herefmgaded and restated in its entirety to
read as follows:

“The total number of shares of all classes of stwhich the Corporation shall have authority to esgiSixty-one Million
(61,000,000) shares consisting of One million (0,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par vaduehare (the “Preferred Stock”),
and Sixty million (60,000,000) shares of Commonc&t&0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”)

F ourTH : Thereafter, pursuant to a resolution of the Botinid, Certificate of Amendment was submitted togteckholders of the
Corporation for their approval, and was duly addpiteaccordance with the provisions of Sections &2@ 242 of the DGCL.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



I NW ITNESS W HEREOF , the Corporation has caused tBiI€RTIFICATE OF A MENDMENT to be signed by its President and Chief
Executive Officer as of the 14th day of Februarg20

M ITEK SYSTEMS, | NC.

By: /s/ James B. DeBello

Name James B. DeBell
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic



CERTIFICATE OF CORRECTION
OF
MITEK SYSTEMS, INC.
a Delaware corporation

Mitek Systems, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corpasatorganized and existing under and by virtuehefGeneral Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware does hereby certify as follows:

1. The name of the Corporation is Mitek Systems, In

2. A Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the SReed Certificate”) was filed with the Secretafystate of Delaware on November 14,
2011 and that said Restated Certificate requiragction as permitted by Section 103 of the Gen@aaporation Law of the State of
Delaware.

3. The inaccuracy or defect of said Restated Geatd is that (a) the second paragraph of the lartiereof numbered “4”, the text of
which was filed with the Secretary of State on 8ejiiter 25, 1987, was inadvertently omitted from studftle and (b) the Article numbered
“5” of the Corporation’s original certificate of éorporation filed with the Secretary of State ony\28, 1986 was inadvertently omitted from
the Restated Certificate and should have appearte iRestated Certificate as the Article numbé&s&@nd the subsequent Articles
renumbered accordingly.

4. Article 4 of the Restated Certificate is coregcby inserting the following as the second panatyiat such Article:

“The Board of Directors is authorized, subject hy &imitations prescribed by law, to provide foetlssuance of the shares of
Preferred Stock in one or more series, and bydfitircertificate pursuant to the applicable lawhef $tate of Delaware, to establish
from time to time the number of shares of each s&ctes and any qualifications, limitations or nesbns thereof. The number of
authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be inedeassdecreased (but not below the number of slilaeesof then outstanding)
by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majpof the Common Stock, without a vote of the haddefrthe Preferred Stock, or
any series thereof, unless a vote of any such hwldeequired pursuant to the certificate or fedies establishing the series of
Preferred Stoc”



5. Article 5 of the Restated Certificate is coregtby inserting the following as Article 5 therewfd renumbering the subsequent
Articles accordingly (as described in paragraple®w):

“The name and mailing address of each incorpoiatas follows:

NAME MAILING ADDRESS
D.A. Hampton Corporation Trust Center
1209 Orange Street
Wilmington, Delaware 1980

J.A. Grodzicki Corporation Trust Center
1209 Orange Street
Wilmington, Delaware 1980

K. Bowman Corporation Trust Center
1209 Orange Street
Wilmington, Delaware 198("

6. Articles 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of the Restated Jedié are corrected by renumbering such Article8, & 8, 9 and 10, respectively. The
text of such Articles remains unchanged.

7. All other provisions of the Restated Certificedenain unchanged.

(Signature page follows



IN WITNESS WHEREOF , Mitek Systems, Inc. has caused this Certificdt€arrection to be signed by the undersigned offafehe
Corporation this 23rd day of September, 2014.

/s/ Russell C. Clark

Name Russell C. Clarl
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Secrete



Exhibit 10.21

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

THIS INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT  (this“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of | I, 2D by and amongyl
ITEK SYSTEMS, | NC ., a Delaware corporation (t€ompany” ) and[ ](the“Indemnitee” ).
RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Company values Indemnitee’s service to the Gomas a director and desires that Indemniteeruomtio serve the
Company in such capacity;

WHEREAS, Indemnitee does not regard the protection availabtier the organizational documents of the Comgaayany insurance
policies maintained by the Company as adequateeiptesent circumstances, and Indemnitee may netllreg to continue to serve in his
capacity as a director of the Company without tiéitional protections set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (tB®ard” ) has determined that, on the basis of the foragadins reasonable,
prudent and necessary for the Company to obligsédf contractually to indemnify, and to advanceenses on behalf of, Indemnitee to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law so tlmatemnitee will serve or continue to serve the Camypfree from undue concern that he will
not be so indemnified; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to and in furthezasfche organizational documents of the Compamyaay resolutions
adopted pursuant thereto, and shall not be deemedstitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogateg aghts of Indemnitee thereunder;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agregsrigerein contained, and intending to be legadlyril, the
parties hereto agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. | NDEMNIFICATION OF | NDEMNITEE . The Company hereby agrees to hold harmless andhimfielIndemnitee to the fullest extent permitted
by applicable law, as such may be amended fromtiintiene. In furtherance of the foregoing indenwtation, and without limiting the
generality thereof:

(a) Indemnitee shall be entitled to the rights of indéioation provided in this Section I(&) by reason of his Corporate Status (as
defined in_Section 13(3) the Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be maghyrty to or participant in any Proceeding (asnéeffin_Section 13
(e)) other than a Proceeding by or in the right of@mnpany. Pursuant to this Section 1 (ajdemnitee shall be indemnified against alll
Expenses (as defined_in Section 13(fudgments, penalties, fines and amounts pagitiement actually and reasonably incurred by loim,
on his behalf, in connection with such Proceedingny claim, issue or matter therein, if the Indéseacted in good faith and in a manner
the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in oioppbsed to the best interests of the Company, @hd@spect to any criminal Proceeding,
had no reasonable cause to believe the Indemniteathuct was unlawful.

(b) Indemnitee shall be entitled to the rights of indéiation provided in this Section 1(i) by reason of his Corporate Status, the
Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a pauy participant in any Proceeding brought bynathe right of the Company. Pursuant to
this Section 1(b) Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Exggsnactually and reasonably incurred by the Indempor on the
Indemnitee’s behalf, in connection with such Praolieg if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and manner the Indemnitee reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interef the Company; providedhowever, that if applicable law so provides, no
indemnification against such Expenses shall be nradespect of any claim, issue or matter in sut®eding as to which Indemnitee shall
have been adjudged to be liable to the Companyssiaed to the extent that a court of competergdigiion shall determine that such
indemnification may be mad




(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreemeo the extent that Indemnitee is, by reasoni®fCorporate Status, a party to
and is successful, on the merits or otherwiseninRroceeding, he shall be indemnified to the maxmextent permitted by law, as such may
be amended from time to time, against all Expeastasally and reasonably incurred by him or on leisdif in connection therewith. If
Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such Progegebut is successful, on the merits or otherwaseto one or more but less than all claims,
issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Comgeallyisdemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses abtiand reasonably incurred by him
on his behalf in connection with each successfafolved claim, issue or matter. For purposesisf3lction 1(cand without limitation, the
termination of any claim, issue or matter in sudPraceeding by dismissal, with or without prejudisieall be deemed to be a successful resul
as to such claim, issue or matter.

2. ADDITIONAL | NDEMNITY . In addition to, and without regard to any limitais on, the indemnification provided for_in Sentibof this
Agreement, the Company shall and hereby does inifg@md hold harmless Indemnitee against all Expsngpidgments, penalties, fines and
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonablyrred by him or on his behalf if, by reason of Gorporate Status, he is, or is threatened
to be made, a party to or participant in any Prdoeg(including a Proceeding by or in the rightleé Company), including, without

limitation, all liability arising out of the neglénce or active or passive wrongdoing of Indemnitée. only limitation that shall exist upon the
Company’s obligations pursuant to this Agreemeatldie that the Company shall not be obligated &erany payment to Indemnitee that is
finally determined (under the procedures, and suligethe presumptions, set forth_in Sectiora@_rhereof) to be unlawful.

3. CONTRIBUTION .

(a) Whether or not the indemnification provided in $&ts 1and_2hereof is available, in respect of any Proceedinghich the
Company is jointly liable with Indemnitee (or woudé if joined in such Proceeding), the Companylgi®}, in the first instance, the entire
amount of any judgment or settlement of such Pmiogewithout requiring Indemnitee to contributestech payment and the Company he|
waives and relinquishes any right of contributibmay have against Indemnitee. The Company shakmer into any settlement of any
Proceeding in which the Company is jointly liablgehwindemnitee (or would be if joined in such Predimg) unless such settlement provides
for a full and final release of all claims assergginst Indemnitee.

(b) Without diminishing or impairing the obligations thfe Company set forth in Section 3(a) for any reason, Indemnitee shall elect
or be required to pay all or any portion of anygotent or settlement in any Proceeding in whichGbenpany is jointly liable with Indemnit
(or would be if joined in such Proceeding), the @amy shall contribute to the amount of Expenselgmuents, fines and amounts paid in
settlement actually and reasonably incurred and papayable by Indemnitee in proportion to thatige benefits received by the Company
and all officers, directors or employees of the @any, other than Indemnitee, who are jointly liablth Indemnitee (or would be if joined
such Proceeding), on the one hand, and Indemuwitethye other hand, from the transaction from wisigbh Proceeding arose; provided
however, that the proportion determined on the basis letike benefit may, to the extent necessary to@anfto law, be further adjusted by
reference to the relative fault of the Company alhdfficers, directors or employees of the Compatiyer than Indemnitee who are jointly
liable with Indemnitee (or would be if joined incduProceeding), on the one hand, and Indemnitetheoather hand, in connection with the
events that resulted in such expenses, judgmemes, br settlement amounts, as well as any othétaddje considerations which the Law n
require to be considered. The relative fault of@wmpany and all officers, directors or employefethe Company, other than Indemnitee,
who are jointly liable with Indemnitee (or would lg¢oined in suck



Proceeding), on the one hand, and Indemnitee,@ottier hand, shall be determined by referencanong other things, the degree to which
their actions were motivated by intent to gain paes profit or advantage, the degree to which theliility is primary or secondary and the
degree to which their conduct is active or passive.

(c) The Company hereby agrees to fully indemnify anid hmdemnitee harmless from any claims of contifiutvhich may be brought
by officers, directors or employees of the Compantlger than Indemnitee, who may be jointly liablighwndemnitee.

(d) To the fullest extent permissible under applicdale, if the indemnification provided for in this Agement is unavailable to
Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Companigu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contrilkeub the amount incurred by
Indemnitee, whether for judgments, fines, penaléasise taxes, amounts paid or to be paid ineseétht and/or for Expenses, in connection
with any claim relating to an indemnifiable eventler this Agreement, in such proportion as is deefaie and reasonable in light of all of
the circumstances of such Proceeding in orderflecte (i) the relative benefits received by then@imny and Indemnitee as a result of the
event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving cause to groleeeding; and/or (ii) the relative fault of tiempany (and its directors, officers,
employees and agents) and Indemnitee in connegitbrsuch event(s) and/or transaction(s).

4. | NDEMNIFICATION FOR E XPENSES OF AW ITNESS . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreemédo the extent that Indemnitee is,
by reason of his Corporate Status, a witness, miaide (or asked) to respond to discovery requiesésy Proceeding to which Indemnitee is
not a party, he shall be indemnified against appénhses actually and reasonably incurred by hirmndri® behalf in connection therewith.

5. ADVANCEMENT OF E xPENSES. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreemehe Company shall advance all Expenses incurred
by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection witly &roceeding by reason of Indemnite€orporate Status within fourteen (14) days dfte
receipt by the Company of a statement or statenfemtsIndemnitee requesting such advance or adgainom time to time, whether prior to
or after final disposition of such Proceeding. Setdtement or statements shall reasonably evidbedéxpenses incurred by Indemnitee and
shall include or be preceded or accompanied byittewrundertaking by or on behalf of Indemniteedpay any Expenses advanced if it shall
ultimately be determined that Indemnitee is noitlest to be indemnified against such Expenses. @awances and undertakings to repay
pursuant to this Sectionghall be unsecured and interest free.

6. PROCEDURES AND P RESUMPTIONS FOR D ETERMINING E NTITLEMENT TO | NDEMNIFICATION . It is the intent of this Agreement to secure for
Indemnitee rights of indemnification that are asofable as may be permitted under applicable lageofdingly, the parties agree that the
following procedures and presumptions shall applthe event of any question as to whether Indemmétentitled to indemnification under
this Agreement:

(a) To obtain indemnification under this Agreement,dnthitee shall submit to the Company a written retjuecluding therein or
therewith such documentation and information asasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasgneaessary to determine whether and
to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemaifion. The Secretary of the Company shall, promgplgn receipt of such a request for
indemnification, advise the Board in writing thatlemnitee has requested indemnification. Notwitiditeg the foregoing, any failure of
Indemnitee to provide such a request to the Compamy provide such a request in a timely fashgimall not relieve the Company of any
liability that it may have to Indemnitee unlessdaa the extent that, such failure actually andemally prejudices the interests of the
Company.

(b) Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnificatpursuant to the first sentence_of Section Béapof, a determination with
respect to Indemnit’s entitlement thereto shall be made in



specific case by one of the following four methaahkijch shall be at the election of the Board: gi)dbmajority vote of the Disinterested
Directors (as defined in Section 13Jbeven though less than a quorum; (ii) by a cort@mibf those Disinterested Directors designatea by
majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, etleough less than a quorum; (iii) if there are neibterested Directors or if the Disinterested
Directors so direct, by independent legal counsel written opinion to the Board, a copy of whittals be delivered to the Indemnitee, or
(iv) if so directed by the Board, by the stockhotdef the Company.

(c) If the determination of entitlement to indemnificat is to be made by Independent Counsel purseadettion 6(b) hereof, the
Independent Counsel shall be selected as provid#ds Section 6(c). The Independent Counsel sleatielected by the Board. Indemnitee
may, within 10 days after such written notice déstton shall have been given, deliver to the Comypmwritten objection to such selection;
provided, however, that such objection may be &sgemly on the ground that the Independent Cowstseklected does not meet the
requirements of “Independent Counsel” as defineSlantion 13 of this Agreement, and the objectical et forth with particularity the
factual basis of such assertion. Absent a propetiarely objection, the person so selected shalhadndependent Counsel. If a written
objection is made and substantiated, the Indepérttmmsel selected may not serve as Independemtsgbunless and until such objection is
withdrawn or a court has determined that such diojedcs without merit. If, within 20 days after suission by Indemnitee of a written requ
for indemnification pursuant to Section 6(a) herewf Independent Counsel shall have been selenttdat objected to, either the Company
or Indemnitee may petition a court of competenisjliction for resolution of any objection which #H@ave been made by the Indemnitee to
the Company’s selection of Independent Counseloaridf the appointment as Independent Counselpafraon selected by the court or by
such other person as the court shall designatethenglerson with respect to whom all objectionssareesolved or the person so appointed
shall act as Independent Counsel under Sectionh@figf. The Company shall pay any and all readerfabs and expenses of Independent
Counsel incurred by such Independent Counsel inection with acting pursuant to Section 6(b) heraafl the Company shall pay all
reasonable fees and expenses incident to the pnasedf this Section 6(c), regardless of the mamehich such Independent Counsel was
selected or appointed.

(d) In making a determination with respect to entitlatte indemnification hereunder, the person or @esor entity making such
determination shall presume that Indemnitee idledtto indemnification under this Agreement. Angaeeking to overcome this
presumption shall have the burden of proof andtivden of persuasion by clear and convincing evideNeither the failure of the Company
(including by its directors or independent legaliesel) to have made a determination prior to tmmencement of any action pursuant to
Agreement that indemnification is proper in thegmstances because Indemnitee has met the appl&alpidard of conduct, nor an actual
determination by the Company (including by its dicgs or independent legal counsel) that Indemiiteenot met such applicable standai
conduct, shall be a defense to the action or ceatesumption that Indemnitee has not met thaagipé standard of conduct.

(e) Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in gatidifandemnitee’s action is based on the recandbooks of account of the
Enterprise (as defined in Section 13\dncluding financial statements, or on informat&upplied to Indemnitee by the officers of the
Enterprise in the course of their duties, or onatieice of legal counsel for the Enterprise orrorimation or records given or reports made
to the Enterprise by an independent certified puldicountant or by an appraiser or other expesttsd with reasonable care by the
Enterprise. In addition, the knowledge and/or axgjcr failure to act, of any director, officerea or employee of the Enterprise shall not be
imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determinigright to indemnification under this Agreementéther or not the foregoing provisions
of this_Section 6(edre satisfied, it shall in any event be presumadl ltdemnitee has at all times acted in good faitth in a manner he
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed td#st interests of the Company. Anyone seeking éwamme this presumption shall have the
burden of proof and the burden of persuasion bgr@ed convincing evidenc



(f) If the person, persons or entity empowered or sadeender this Sectionté determine whether Indemnitee is entitled to
indemnification shall not have made a determinatvithin sixty (60) days after receipt by the Compani the request therefor, the requisite
determination of entitlement to indemnification ke deemed to have been made and Indemniteetshalttitied to such indemnification
absent: (i) a misstatement by Indemnitee of a rn@tiect, or an omission of a material fact necgsta make Indemnitee’s statement not
materially misleading, in connection with the resuler indemnification; or (ii) a prohibition of sh indemnification under applicable law;
provided, however, that such 60-day period may be extended for soregble time, not to exceed an additional thir@) @ays, if the person,
persons or entity making such determination wipeet to entitlement to indemnification in goodHaiequires such additional time to obtain
or evaluate documentation and/or information refathereto; and providedurther, that the foregoing provisions of this Section) fall
not apply if the determination of entitlement tdémnification is to be made by the stockholderspaint to Section 6(lof this Agreement
and if (A) within fifteen (15) days after receipt the Company of the request for such determinatlmmBoard or the Disinterested Directors,
if appropriate, resolve to submit such determimatmthe stockholders for their consideration ahanual meeting thereof to be held within
seventyfive (75) days after such receipt and such deteatitin is made thereat or (B) a special meetingafldolders is called within fiftee
(15) days after such receipt for the purpose ofintaguch determination, such meeting is held fehsaurpose within sixty (60) days after
having been so called and such determination ientasteat.

(9) Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, pereoesitity making such determination with respedindemnitee’s entitlement to
indemnification, including providing to such perspersons or entity upon reasonable advance regoggtocumentation or information
which is not privileged or otherwise protected frdisclosure and which is reasonably available tteimnitee and reasonably necessary to
such determination. Any Independent Counsel, membtre Board or stockholder of the Company shetlreasonably and in good faith in
making a determination regarding the Indemniteetglement to indemnification under this Agreemeay costs or expenses (including
attorneys’fees and disbursements) incurred by Indemnitee tosperating with the person, persons or entitiingasuch determination sh
be borne by the Company (irrespective of the datextion as to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indenuaifion) and the Company hereby
indemnifies and agrees to hold Indemnitee harntfesgfrom.

(h) The Company acknowledges that a settlement or dilposition short of final judgment may be suctidsgit permits a party to
avoid expense, delay, distraction, disruption amceatainty. In the event that any Proceeding tactviimndemnitee is a party is resolved in any
manner other than by adverse judgment against Indeen(including, without limitation, settlementsdich Proceeding with or without
payment of money or other consideration) it shalpbesumed that Indemnitee has been successfaeandrits or otherwise in such
Proceeding. Anyone seeking to overcome this preiomphall have the burden of proof and the burfgmersuasion by clear and convinc
evidence.

(i) The termination of any Proceeding or of any clasaye or matter therein, by judgment, order, setle or conviction, or upon a
plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall(egcept as otherwise expressly provided in thgsegment) of itself adversely affect the ri
of Indemnitee to indemnification or create a pregtiom that Indemnitee did not act in good faith @amd manner which he reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interef the Company or, with respect to any crimiPraiceeding, that Indemnitee had
reasonable cause to believe that his conduct wasviui.

7. REMEDIES OF | NDEMNITEE .

(a) In the event that: (i) a determination is made pan$ to_Section 6f this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitiedhtdemnificatior
under this Agreement; (ii) advancement of Expersest timely made pursuant to Sectionf3his Agreement; (iii) no determination of
entitlement to indemnification is made pursuarSection 6(bof this Agreement within ninety (90) days aftereipt



by the Company of the request for indemnificati@v), payment of indemnification is not made pursutarthis Agreement within ten

(10) days after receipt by the Company of a writeuest therefor; or (v) payment of indemnificatis not made within ten (10) days after a
determination has been made that Indemnitee idezhto indemnification or such determination i€ohed to have been made pursuant to
Section 6of this Agreement, Indemnitee shall be entitledricadjudication in any court of competent jurisidictof Indemnitee’s entitlement
to such indemnification. Indemnitee shall commesweh proceeding seeking an adjudication withintwnedred eighty (180) days following
the date on which Indemnitee first has the righiddmmence such proceeding pursuant to_this Segfmn The Company shall not oppose
Indemnitee’s right to seek any such adjudication.

(b) In the event that a determination shall have beadenpursuant to Section 6(f)this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitied t
indemnification, any judicial proceeding commengpedsuant to this Sectionshall be conducted in all respects as a de noatbani the
merits, and Indemnitee shall not be prejudiceddagson of the adverse determination under Sectimn 6(

(c) If a determination shall have been made pursuaBtttion 6(bpf this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled tdemnification, the
Company shall be bound by such determination injagigial proceeding commenced pursuant to thigi&ed , absent: (i) a misstatement
Indemnitee of a material fact or an omission ofaerial fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s misstant not materially misleading in
connection with the application for indemnificatjan (i) a prohibition of such indemnification uadapplicable law.

(d) In the event that Indemnitee, pursuant to thisiSedt, seeks a judicial adjudication of his rights underto recover damages for
breach of, this Agreement, or to recover underdirgctors’ and officers’ liability insurance polés maintained by the Company, the
Company shall pay on his behalf, in advance, anyadirexpenses (of the types described in the tiefinof “Expenses” in Section 13(df
this Agreement) actually and reasonably incurretiibyin such judicial adjudication, regardless dfether Indemnitee ultimately is
determined to be entitled to such indemnificatayancement of expenses or insurance recovery.

(e) The Company shall be precluded from asserting ynj@adgticial proceeding commenced pursuant to thidtiSe 7that the procedures
and presumptions of this Agreement are not valilihg and enforceable and shall stipulate in amhscourt that the Company is bound by
all the provisions of this Agreement. The Compamglisindemnify Indemnitee against any and all Exgg=nand, if requested by Indemnitee,
shall (within ten (10) days after receipt by ther@any of a written request therefor) advance, ¢oetktent not prohibited by law, such
expenses to Indemnitee, which are incurred by Imde® in connection with any action brought by Imahétee for indemnification or advan
of Expenses from the Company under this Agreemeuander any directors’ and officers’ liability ingnce policies maintained by the
Company, regardless of whether Indemnitee ultigasetletermined to be entitled to such indemnif@atadvancement of Expenses or
insurance recovery, as the case may be.

(H Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to tleattary, no determination as to entitlement to md#ication under this
Agreement shall be required to be made prior tditta disposition of the Proceeding.

8. NON -E XCLUSIVITY , SURVIVAL OF R IGHTS , ETC.

(a) The rights of indemnification as provided by thigrAement shall not be deemed exclusive of any oitjlets to which Indemnitee
may at any time be entitled under applicable l&&,drganizational documents of the Company, angratgreement with the Company, a
vote of the Company’s stockholders, a resolutiothefBoard or otherwise. No amendment, alteratio®peal of this Agreement or of any
provision hereof shall limit or restrict any righft Indemnitee under th



Agreement in respect of any action taken or omittgeduch Indemnitee in his Corporate Status pdauch amendment, alteration or repeal.
To the extent that a change in any applicable Velwether by statute or judicial decision, permitsager indemnification than would be
afforded currently under the Compasyrganizational documents and this Agreemerg,the intent of the parties hereto that Indemrstes!
enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits sordéfd by such change. No right or remedy hereifertad is intended to be exclusive of
any other right or remedy, and every other right smedy shall be cumulative and in addition torgw¢her right and remedy given
hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law adnity or otherwise. The assertion or employmérainy right or remedy hereunder, or
otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent aggedr employment of any other right or remedy.

(b) To the extent that the Company maintains an ingergolicy or policies providing liability insurander directors, officers,
employees, or agents or fiduciaries of the Compmarof any other Enterprise, Indemnitee shall beeced by such policy or policies in
accordance with its or their terms to the maximwteet of the coverage available for any directdficer, employee, agent or fiduciary under
such policy or policies. If, at the time of the egat of a notice of a claim pursuant to the termsebf, the Company has directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in effect, the Company shaillgprompt notice of the commencement of such pdingeo the insurers in accordance with
the procedures set forth in the respective polidiee Company shall thereafter take all necessadgsirable action to cause such insurers to
pay, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts pkeyab a result of such proceeding in accordande tié terms of such policies.

9. ExcepPTION TO R IGHT OF | NDEMNIFICATION . Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreemeng tbompany shall not be obligated under
this Agreement to provide any indemnification imnection with any claim made against Indemnitgen(i which payment has actually been
made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any inseegolicy or other indemnity provision, excepthwiespect to any excess beyond the
amount paid under any insurance policy or otheemmaity provision; (ii) for an accounting of profitsade from the purchase and sale (or sale
and purchase) by Indemnitee of securities of the@oy within the meaning of Section 16(b) of theBities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or similar provisions of state statutavy br common law; or (iii) in connection with anyoBeeding (or any part of any Proceed
initiated by Indemnitee, including any Proceediagdny part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indeiemiagainst the Company or its directors,
officers, employees or other indemnitees, unle3di{@ Board authorized the Proceeding (or any gfaaihy Proceeding) prior to its initiation

or (B) the Company provides the indemnificationiténsole discretion, pursuant to the powers veistelde Company under applicable law; it
being understood that a counterclaim or cross-camipby Indemnitee shall not be deemed the initiatif a Proceeding by Indemnitee.

10. DuURrRATION OF A GREEMENT . All agreements and obligations of the Company daethherein shall continue until the date thaibis s

(6) years after the date upon which Indemnitee’pGi@ate Status terminates and shall continue titereso long as Indemnitee shall be
subject to any Proceeding (or any proceeding consettander Section frereof) by reason of his Corporate Status, whethaot he is actin

or serving in any such capacity at the time anlyillix or expense is incurred for which indemnifiican can be provided under this Agreem
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inurédnolienefit of and be enforceable by the partiestbeand their respective successors
(including any direct or indirect successor by pase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to afiudrstantially all of the business or assets of
the Company), assigns, spouses, heirs, executdnseasonal and legal representatives.

11. SECURITY . To the extent requested by Indemnitee and apprbyede Board, the Company may at any time and tiore to time
provide security to Indemnitee for the Company’Sgations hereunder through an irrevocable band éihcredit, funded trust or other
collateral. Any such security, once provided todmuhitee, may not be revoked or released withouptioe written consent of the Indemnite



12. ENFORCEMENT . The Company expressly confirms and agrees thaisientered into this Agreement and assumes thgatiblis imposed
on it hereby in order to induce Indemnitee to seawan officer or director of the Company, andGoepany acknowledges that Indemnite
relying upon this Agreement in serving as an offimedirector of the Company.

13. D ErINITIONS . For purposes of this Agreeme

(a) “Corporate Status”describes the status of a person who is or wasydtirme (including, without limitation, any timeipr to the dati
of this Agreement) a director, officer, employegeat or fiduciary of the Company or of any otherpowation, partnership, joint venture, tr
employee benefit plan or other enterprise that @@rhon is or was serving at the express writtqnest of the Company.

(b) “Disinterested Director’means a director of the Company who is not andneas: party to the Proceeding in respect of which
indemnification is sought by Indemnitee.

(c) “Enterprise” shall mean the Company and any other corporatiarnership, joint venture, trust, employee bensén or other
enterprise that Indemnitee is or was serving aepgess written request of the Company as a directficer, employee, agent or fiduciary.

(d) “Expenses”shall include all reasonable attorneys’ fees, neta, court costs, transcript costs, fees of egpaitness fees, travel
expenses, duplicating costs, printing and bindiogts; telephone charges, postage, delivery sefefseand all other disbursements or
expenses of the types customarily incurred in cotime with prosecuting, defending, preparing togerute or defend, investigating,
participating, or being or preparing to be a wissa Proceeding, or responding to, or objectingtrequest to provide discovery in any
Proceeding. Expenses also shall include Expensas@u in connection with any appeal resulting framy Proceeding and any federal, state,
local or foreign taxes imposed on the Indemnitea eessult of the actual or deemed receipt of aryyreets under this Agreement, including
without limitation the premium, security for, anther costs relating to any cost bond, supersedaas, lor other appeal bond or its equival
Expenses, however, shall not include amounts paseftlement by Indemnitee or the amount of judgmenfines against Indemnitee.

(e)“Independent Counsel'means a law firm, or a member of a law firm, tisaéxperienced in matters of corporation law antheei
presently is, nor in the past five years has bestajned to represent: (i) the Company or Indensniiteany matter material to either such party
(other than with respect to matters concerningnmuéee under this Agreement, or of other indemsiteeder similar indemnification
agreements), or (ii) any other party to the Protegdiving rise to a claim for indemnification hereder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
term “Independent Counsel” shall not include angspe who, under the applicable standards of prifieakconduct then prevailing, would
have a conflict of interest in representing eittiner Company or Indemnitee in an action to deterrimdemnitee’s rights under this
Agreement. The Company agrees to pay the reasofesdsef the Independent Counsel referred to abadeo fully indemnify such counsel
against any and all Expenses, claims, liabilitied damages arising out of or relating to this Agrest or its engagement pursuant hereto.

(f) “Proceeding” includes any threatened, pending or completed mcsiait, arbitration, alternate dispute resolutioechanism,
investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing oryaother actual, threatened or completed proceg(tietuding one pending on or before the
date of this Agreement but excluding one initidtgdan Indemnitee pursuant to Sectioof This Agreement to enforce his rights under this
Agreement), whether brought by or in the righthef Company or otherwise and whether civil, crimiaalministrative or investigative, in
which Indemnitee was, is or will be involved asaatp or otherwise, by reason of the fact that Indi¢ee is or was an officer or director of 1
Company, by reason of any action taken by him @mgyfinaction on his part while acting as an officedirector of the Company, or by
reason of the fact that he is or was serving atefjaest of the Company as a direc



officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of anotherpawation, partnership, joint venture, trust orestEnterprise, in each case whether or not he
is acting or serving in any such capacity at theetany liability or expense is incurred for whicldémnification can be provided under this
Agreement.

14. SEverABILITY . The invalidity or unenforceability of any provisitrereof shall in no way affect the validity or ertfeability of any other
provision. Without limiting the generality of theregoing, this Agreement is intended to confer upmalemnitee indemnification rights to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable laws. In #vent any provision hereof conflicts with any aggible law, such provision shall be deemed
modified, consistent with the aforementioned intémthe extent necessary to resolve such conflict.

15. M oDpIFICATION AND W AIVER . NoO supplement, modification, termination or amendtrtd this Agreement shall be binding unless
executed in writing by both of the parties her&to.waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreershall be deemed or shall constitute a
waiver of any other provisions hereof (whether ot similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a aauing waiver.

16. NoTICE BY | NDEMNITEE . Indemnitee agrees to promptly notify the Companyriiting upon being served with or otherwise reagjany
summons, citation, subpoena, complaint, indictmiefdrmation or other document relating to any Rexting or matter which may be subject
to indemnification covered hereunder. The failared notify the Company shall not relieve the Conypaf any obligation which it may have
to Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwisessmhnd only to the extent that such failure caydelaterially prejudices the Company.

17. Norices . All notices and other communications given or mpdesuant to this Agreement shall be in writing ahdll be deemed
effectively given: (i) upon personal delivery teetparty to be notified; (ii) when sent by confirmaldctronic mail or facsimile if sent during
normal business hours of the recipient, and ifsootonfirmed, then on the next business day;fiii@ (5) business days after having been sent
by registered or certified mail, return receiptuested, postage prepaid; or (iv) one businessajl after deposit with a nationally recognized
overnight courier, specifying next day deliveryflwivritten verification of receipt. All notices ammther communications shall be sent:

(&) To Indemnitee at the address set forth below Indke® s signhature heret
(b) To the Company a

Mitek Systems, Inc.

8911 Balboa Avenue

San Diego, CA 92123
Attention: Board of Directors

or to such other address as may have been furnisHademnitee by the Company or to the Companindgmnitee, as the case may be.

18. HEADINGS . The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreemeninaerted for convenience only and shall not kel to constitute part
of this Agreement or to affect the constructiornr¢uod.

19. GoverNING L Aw . This Agreement and the legal relations among thtgsashall be governed by, and construed and eadan
accordance with, the laws of the State of Delawaithout regard to its conflict of laws rules

20. ENTIRE A GREEMENT . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreememidsat the parties hereto with respect to the subjatter herec
and supersedes all prior agreements and undenstgndiral, written and implied, between the patieeto with respect to the subject matter
hereof



21. CouNTERPARTS . This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or moreterparts, each of which shall be deemed annaiigbut all of
which together shall constitute one and the samedgent. This Agreement may also be executed divetidal by facsimile signature (or
other similar electronic means) and in two (2) amrencounterparts, each of which shall be deememtigimal, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrum



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreemeahdras of the day and year first written above.

COMPANY:

M ITEK SYSTEMS, | NC.

J AMES B. DEB ELLO
P RESIDENT AND CEO

INDEMNITEE:

[

A
DDRESS:




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

As independent registered public accountants, weblyeconsent to the incorporation by referenceegi&ration Statement Nos. 333-80567,
333-58032, 333-106843, 333-133765, 333-172810,132B11, 333-178527 and 333-179942 on Form S-8 agisRation Statement

No. 333177965 on Form S-3 of our report dated Decemb0%54, relating to the financial statements of Migystems, Inc. and the
effectiveness of Mitek Systems, Inc.’s internaltcohover financial reporting, as of September 314, included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2014.

/sl Mayer Hoffman McCann P.(
San Diego, Californi
December 5, 201




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Seéon 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, James B. DeBello, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Mitek Systems, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dondtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngre responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakgses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: December 5, 2014 /sl James B. DeBell

James B. DeBello, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Seéon 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Russell C. Clark, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Mitek Systems, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dondtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngre responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant including its consolidatgedsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakgses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: December 5, 2014 /s/ Russell C. Clar

Russell C. Clark, Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned, in his capacity as thecjpal executive officer and principal financiafioér of Mitek Systems, Inc. (the
“Company”), as the case may be, hereby certifiessyant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13gp)df the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and Sectd&i® bf Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United Sta@esle (18 U.S.C. §1350), that, to the
best of his knowledge:

1.  This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the perioaled September 30, 2014 (this “Annual Report")falbmplies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act;

2.  Theinformation contained in this Annual Refaitly presents, in all material respects, thefiicial condition and results of operations
of the Company for the period covered by this Adrfeport.

Date: December 5, 2014 /sl James B. DeBell
James B. DeBell
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: December 5, 2014 /s/ Russell C. Clar
Russell C. Clarl
Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2882 been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished o $iecurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) ostaf upon request.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toehhit relates, is not deemed filed with the SEC mmibt to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of the Company under the Securiies of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (wdrehade before or after the date of
this Annual Report), irrespective of any generabiporation language contained in such fili



